AGREEMENT BETWEEN



 $\boldsymbol{\delta}$

MENDON-UPTON REGIONAL SCHOOL DISTRICT



JULY 1, 2024 - JUNE 30, 2027

MOVING FORWARD TOGETHER

Table of Contents

Article 1: Recognition	3
Article 2: Negotiation Procedure	3
Article 3: Management Rights	4
Article 4: Grievance Procedure	5
Article 5: Arbitration	7
Article 6: Continuity of Employment	8
Article 7: Teaching Hours and Teaching Load	8
Article 8: Class Size	13
Article 9: Teacher Assignment	13
Article 10: Transfers and Vacancies	14
Article 11: Advertising of Promotions and Other Vacancies	17
Article 12: Personnel Files	18
Article 13: Discipline	18
Article 14: Salaries	19
Article 15: Sick Leave	20
Article 16: Sick Leave Bank	21
Article 17: Temporary Leaves of Absence	22
Article 18: Extended Leaves of Absence	24
Article 19: Sabbatical Leave	27
Article 20: On the Job Injury	27
Article 21: Insurance	28
Article 22: Payroll Deductions	29
Article 23: Duration	29
Article 24: Staff Conduct	30
Article 25: Faculty Meetings	30
Article 26: Health and Safety	30
Article 27: Professional Development	31
Article 28: Association Release Time	32
Article 29: District Calendar	33
Appendix A: Teachers' Salary Schedule	36
Appendix B: Athletic Salary Schedule	37
Appendix C: District-wide Stipends	39
Appendix D: Course Reimbursement	43

Appendix E: Longevity	43
Appendix F: Time and Learning	44
Appendix G: Staff Evaluations	46
Appendix H: Unit B	65
Appendix I: RETELL Initiative	66

Article 1: Recognition

- For the purpose of collective bargaining with respect to wages, hours, and 1.1 other conditions of employment, the Mendon-Upton Regional School Committee (hereinafter referred to as the Committee) recognizes the Mendon-Upton Regional Teachers Association (hereinafter referred to as the Association) as the exclusive bargaining agent and representative of all professional teaching personnel employed by the Mendon-Upton School Committee who hold licenses under Chapter 71 of the Massachusetts General Laws, and all other personnel who hold such professional licenses and who perform a school-related function such as library media specialists, guidance counselors, school nurses, hearing and pathologists, occupational therapists, physical therapists, and technology integration specialists. This clause does not include any professional personnel explicitly hired as a consultant to provide services or those who are licensed as assistants. Also excluded are per diem substitute teachers, and all other managerial employees of the Regional School Committee as defined in M.G.L. Chapter 150E or any other subsequent statute which defines or clarifies the term "managerial employees."
- The professional employees will be divided into three (3) units hereinafter called Unit A, Unit B, and Unit C. Unit A is to include all teachers, certified service providers, head teachers, guidance counselors, curriculum assistants, instructional coaches, BCBAs, adjustment counselors (or equivalent) and media specialists. Unit B is to include the Dean of Students. Unit C is to include school nurses. Units A, B, and C will be represented by the Negotiations Committee of the Mendon-Upton Regional Teachers Association.
- 1.3 A subcommittee will be formed to go through the contract to change all references from "Teachers" to "Unit A members," where appropriate.

Article 2: Negotiation Procedure

2.1 The Committee agrees to enter into negotiations with the Association in a good faith effort to reach agreement concerning wages, hours, and

conditions of employment for all employees covered in Units A, B, and C. Any agreement so negotiated will apply to all employees covered under Units A, B, and C and will be reduced to writing and signed by the Committee and the Association.

- During negotiations, the Committee and the Association will present relevant data, exchange points of view, and make proposals and counter proposals. Either party may, if it so desires, utilize the services of outside consultants and designate a representative for the purpose of collective bargaining.
- 2.3 If the negotiations described in Sections 2.1 and 2.2 have reached an impasse, the procedure described in M.G.L. Chapter 150E will be followed.
- The Committee agrees not to negotiate matters applicable to employees covered by this agreement with any organization other than that designated as the exclusive bargaining agent pursuant to Article 1 herein and M.G.L. Chapter 150E. The Committee further agrees not to negotiate with any organization other than the Association in regard to changes in wages, hours, or other conditions of employment to become effective during the term of this agreement.
- 2.5 This agreement is a complete agreement between the parties for the term hereof covering all mandatory subjects of bargaining. All matters not dealt with herein shall be treated as having been brought up and disposed of and neither party to this agreement shall be under any obligation to negotiate with the other any modification or addition to this agreement which are to be effective during the term thereof.

In the event any changes are mutually agreed to between the Committee and the Association, they will be reduced to writing, signed by the Committee and the Association representative and become addenda to this agreement.

Article 3: Management Rights

3.1 The Committee is a public body established under and with powers provided by the statutes of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts and nothing in this contract shall be deemed to derogate from or impair any power, right, or duty conferred upon the Committee by statute or any rule or regulation of any agency of the Commonwealth. The Superintendent is the chief executive and administrative officer of the District pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 71 and nothing in this contract shall be deemed to derogate from or impair any power, right, or duty conferred upon the Superintendent or statute or any rule or regulation of the Commonwealth. As to every matter not specifically mentioned or provided for in this

agreement, or as to all matters in conflict with the powers, rights, or duties conferred by statute, rule, or regulation of any agency of the Commonwealth on the School Committee or Superintendent, the Committee and Superintendent shall retain all powers, and any inherent powers, rights, and duties that they have by law and may exercise any such power in their discretion without any exercise being made the subject of a grievance procedure.

Article 4: Grievance Procedure

- A "grievance" is an alleged violation of a specific provision of this agreement, or any dispute over the interpretation, meaning, or application of the terms thereof. The aforementioned definition neither limits the Association or the Committee from bringing up for discussion and possible agreement any other differences which might arise between the parties hereto, nor prevents any teacher from individually presenting any grievance or difference through regular administrative channels. However, it is mutually agreed that any such differences shall not be referable to the grievance and arbitration provisions of this agreement without the mutual consent of both parties hereto. A grievance must be presented within eleven (11) school days of the time of the occurrence of the grievance or the date the grievant knew or should have known of its occurrence, whichever is later, and must be processed in accordance with the steps, time limits, and conditions as set forth below in this article.
 - STEP 1. The grievance shall first be taken up between the aggrieved employee(s) and their principal or immediate superior. The employee may request that the Association's representative be present.
 - STEP 2. If the aggrieved person(s) is not satisfied with the disposition of their grievance or if no decision has been rendered within five (5) school days from the date of such meeting, the grievance shall be filed in writing with the principal or superior. The grievance must state the names of the parties, the date the principal or superior was approached, the alleged facts pertaining to the grievance and the applicable provisions of this agreement. The principal or superior may meet with the parties to the grievance and the Association's representative but in any case, shall answer the grievance in writing within five (5) school days after receipt of the written grievance.
 - STEP 3. If the aggrieved person is not satisfied with the disposition of their grievance, or if no decision has been rendered within five (5) school days after written presentation of the grievance, they may file the grievance in writing with the Chairman of the Association's Negotiations Committee

within five (5) school days after receipt of the principal's or supervisor's written decision or ten (10) school days after the written grievance was presented, whichever is sooner. The Negotiations Committee shall then have five (5) school days to review the matter and state its position to the grievant and the principal.

STEP 4.

The grievant, if not satisfied, with or without the Negotiations Committee in their behalf, shall bring the grievance to the Superintendent of Schools in writing within five (5) school days of the Negotiations Committee review. Superintendent shall, within five (5) school days after receipt of the written grievance, meet with the grievant, the Chairman of the Negotiations Committee, and the Association President and attempt to settle the grievance. The Superintendent shall give a written answer to the grievant, the principal or supervisor, and the Association within five (5) school days after the date of such meeting.

STEP 5.

If the written answer of the Superintendent does not satisfy the grievant, or if no decision is rendered by the Superintendent within ten (10) school days after receipt of the grievance by the Superintendent, and if the grievance is not a matter subject to M.G.L. Chapter 71 Section 42 or 42D. the grievant may present the grievance in writing to the Committee within five (5) school days after receipt of the Superintendent's answer or within ten (10) school days after the grievance to the Superintendent. presentation of whichever is sooner. The Grievant may meet with the Committee at its next regular meeting to discuss the grievance in executive session. They may be represented by counsel and/or the Association if they so state in the appeal. The Committee shall answer the grievance in writing within ten (10) school days after the conclusion of the meeting.

STEP 6

The Committee's answer shall be considered accepted unless within five (5) school days after receipt thereof the Association notifies the Committee in writing of its intention to take the matter to arbitration pursuant to Article 5.

- In the event that any grievance relates to an alleged act or failure to act by the Superintendent of Schools or by the Committee the grievance may be initiated at STEP 4.
- 4.3 Any grievance filed but not resolved to the satisfaction of one or more of the interested parties prior to the end of the school year shall be continued to be processed in accordance with the steps, time limit, and conditions set forth above except that the term "school day" shall be read to mean "weekday" and the time limits may be adjusted by mutual agreement to insure the availability of all necessary participants.

- 4.4 If the grievant or the Association fails to carry a grievance to the next step within the prescribed time limit, it shall be deemed closed on the basis of the last written answer. If the principal or supervisor, Superintendent or Committee fails to answer a grievance within the prescribed time limit the grievance shall be deemed automatically advanced to the next step.
- 4.5 The Association may initiate action on behalf of a group of grievants if they so request.
- No reprisals of any kind will be taken by the School Committee or by any member of the administration against, any member of the Negotiations Committee, or any other participant in a grievance by reason of such participation.
- 4.7 All documents, communications, and records dealing with the processing of a grievance will be filed separately from the personnel files of the participant.
- 4.8 Unless the parties mutually agree otherwise, all meetings for the purpose of discussion of the grievance shall be held before or after the school day. An effort will be made to schedule meetings at mutually convenient times.
- 4.9 Forms for filing grievance, service notices, taking appeals, making reports and recommendations, and other necessary documents will be jointly prepared by the Superintendent and the Association and given appropriate distribution so as to facilitate operation of the grievance procedure.
- 4.10 The Committee or Superintendent will, upon request, provide the Association with the approved minutes of School Committee meetings together with any public documents to the extent permitted by M.G.L., Chapter 30A, Sections 19-25, which may be necessary for the Association to process grievances under this agreement. The Association will, upon request, provide the Committee or Superintendent with the agenda, minutes of Association meetings, and any other documents relevant to the processing of a grievance.

Article 5: Arbitration

In the event either party elects to submit a grievance to arbitration, the arbitrator shall be selected according to and shall be governed by the following procedure: The arbitrator is to be mutually selected by the Committee and the Association. If the Committee and the Association cannot agree within seven (7) school days after written notice of intention to arbitrate has been received by either party, then the party demanding arbitration shall within five (5) school days, thereafter, upon written notice to the other, request the American Arbitration Association to provide a panel of arbitrators, said arbitrator then to be selected under provisions of

the Voluntary Labor Arbitration Rules. The parties may by mutual agreement submit the grievance to the State Board of Conciliation and Arbitration in accordance with its rules and regulations.

Each party shall bear the expense of its representatives, participants, witnesses and for the preparation and representation of its own case. The fees and expenses (if any) of the arbitrator and the American Arbitration Association shall be shared equally by the parties provided that the obligations of the Committee or the Association to pay shall be limited to the obligation which the Committee or the Association can legally undertake in that connection

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, no dispute or controversy shall be a subject for arbitration unless it involves only an alleged specific provision of this agreement; the arbitrator shall have no power to add to, subtract from, or modify any of the terms of this agreement.

The parties are agreed that no restrictions are intended on the rights and powers of the Committee except those specifically and directly set forth in express language in specific provisions of this agreement. The arbitrator shall arrive at their decision solely upon the facts, evidence and contentions presented by the parties during the arbitration proceedings. The decision of the arbitrators shall be submitted to the Committee and to the Association and shall be binding on both parties. In determining whether there is a specific and direct violation of express language of a specific provision of this agreement, it is agreed that the only criterion to be applied is the plain meaning of express language in the agreement, and that evidence of past practice, past or present policy or oral statements made during negotiations or at any time either of the parties shall be inadmissible to prove the meaning of express language and shall not be considered by the arbitrator.

Article 6: Continuity of Employment

The teachers agree that strikes are prohibited. The Association agrees not to induce, encourage, condone, or sanction any strike, walkout, slow-down, work stoppage, sick-out, or withholding of services. The Committee agrees to bargain in good faith.

Article 7: Teaching Hours and Teaching Load

7.1 The work year of returning teachers under a ten (10) month contract (other than any newly employed or first year personnel who may be required to attend orientation sessions) will begin no earlier than the Monday prior to Labor Day and terminate no later than June 30th. If school begins prior to Labor Day, the Friday before Labor Day will not be a school day. One day at the beginning of the school year may be utilized for orientation purposes.

There will be three (3) full days and five (5) half days of professional development each school year. The work year shall not exceed one hundred eighty-four (184) days, unless the State Board of Education requires more than that number. The school day before Holiday Break shall be a half day for teachers and students.

Two (2) days at the beginning of the year shall be utilized for the purpose of educator preparation and professional development.

One (1) of these days shall be considered a Professional Development Day which is district led with sixty (60) minutes allowed for Association business on this day.

One (1) of these days the Unit A members will utilize this time for education preparation at their respective buildings. No more than ninety (90) minutes shall be utilized for faculty meetings on this day.

When possible, effort will be made to make the educator preparation day the second day.

7.2 During the term of this agreement, it is the intention of the Association and School Committee memorialize the start and end times of the teacher day:

High School – 7:20 am to 2:20 pm Middle School – 7:55 am to 2:50 pm Elementary School – 8:40 am to 3:30 pm

Whenever a staff member has a workload which covers more than one (1) school, their schedule for any such day shall be arranged so that their total time of work for the day does not exceed the prescribed length of workday for the school that has the longer staff work day.

It is the intention of the School Committee to retain the starting and dismissal time for the students, as well as to memorialize the current practice for the teachers. These schedules may be adjusted as the Superintendent deems necessary in light of current conditions, including bus transportation, and after notification to the Association with an explanation for the reasons involved.

- 7.3 All professional development courses not scheduled during the regular school day are voluntary.
- 7.4 All teachers will have a duty-free lunch period equal to the length of a single student lunch period. All members of the bargaining unit may leave the building on orientation days or other days when the cafeteria is not serving lunch.
- 7.5 The teaching load of teachers assigned to Nipmuc High School will be

planned for not more than twenty-five (25) teaching periods or the equivalent, nor less than five (5) full and educator-driven preparation periods per week, exclusive of supervisory duties assigned by the principal. Any additional class periods may be taught by mutual agreement of the teacher and the principal. In the event of a change in the structure of the class schedule, the provisions of this section shall be extrapolated and applied to the new schedule.

- 7.5.1 Unit A Members at Miscoe Hill Middle School will receive six (6) full and educator-directed preparation periods in a six (6) day cycle.
- Unit A members of elementary grades will have a duty-free preparation period during time used by specialists. The Committee recognizes the importance of preparation periods for elementary members and the importance of scheduling full and educator-directed preparation periods on a daily basis. In any event, elementary Unit A members will receive a minimum of one (1) full and educator-directed prep per day.

The Association and District mutually acknowledge the value of teacher preparation time. We agree to seek preservation of unassigned time in the building used for preparation purposes and agree to negotiate in the spirit of this language in the second year of the contract.

- 7.7 Open House and Parent/Teacher Conferences attendance is mandatory; however, the following options are available:
 - Unit A members who plan to participate in an after-hours K-8 Specialist Night can request substituting that evening instead of Open House or evening Parent Conferences. This request to the building principal must be pre-approved and mutually agreed upon.
 - A Unit A member who will plan to participate in any Nipmuc Showcase can request substituting that for the collaborative departmental time as indicated in the Article 7.6 conference schedule. This request to the building principal must be preapproved and mutually agreed upon. A Unit A member at the High School may also use the collaborative departmental time as indicated in Article 7.6 to conduct conferences as needed at teacher discretion.

For the purposes of parent/teacher conferences, we will have two (2) early release days for students in November. Parent/Teacher conferences will take place according to the following tentative schedule, subject to change by mutual agreement.

Elementary School

• Two (2) afternoon conferences will take place from 1:00-3:30 pm

(5 hours)

• One (1) evening conference will take place from 6:00-8:00 pm (2 hours)

Middle School

- Two (2) afternoon conferences will take place from 12:20-2:50 pm (5 hours)
- One (1) evening conference will take place from 6:00-8:00 pm (2 hours)

High School

7.9

- One (1) afternoon conference will take place from 11:45-2:15 pm (2.5 hours)
- One (1) afternoon will be used for collaborative departmental time (2.5 hours)
- One (1) evening conference will take place from 6:00-8:00 pm (2 hours)
- 7.8 It is agreed that the proper performance of their duties may require members to work a reasonable amount of time after the normal workday set forth above, while recognizing that this commitment shall be balanced with respect to personal commitments of members outside of the work day. Responsibilities may include detentions, emergency student supervision (bus delays, inclement weather, safety delays), students requiring extra help, parental meetings, and consultations with other professionals and/or administrators.

Scheduled release time shall continue to be provided for Fall Parental Conferences for teachers in grades PreK-12.

- The teachers acknowledge the significance of extracurricular and other student activities (such as the sponsorship of clubs, participation in class activities, etc.) in the total educational program, and shall continue to participate voluntarily in such activities in accord with past practice.
- 7.10 The Committee and administration will make every effort to provide qualified substitute teachers whenever a regular or special teacher is absent. Every effort will be made to prevent pulling paraprofessionals or coteachers from their assigned caseloads to serve as substitute teachers so that compliance with IEPs can be maintained.

Any member who is asked by administration and who agrees to use a preparation period to cover a class of an absent teacher shall be compensated at a rate of \$40 for that class period.

Within fifteen (15) days of the opening of the school, members who are

willing to volunteer under the provision above shall notify the Building Principal. Members may choose to remove their name from the list at any time and the Building Principal may seek volunteers at any time by posting the request to all members.

Job sharing, in accordance with the following, shall be available to all members of the bargaining units represented by the Association.

Job sharing definition: For the purpose of this Article, "job sharing" shall be defined as the allocation of all the duties of one (1) full-time teaching position between two (2) teachers with professional status and within the school system such that the cost of job sharing does not exceed the cost of one teacher. The division of these duties shall be in accordance to the terms set forth below.

Application: Teachers interested in job sharing shall jointly submit a job sharing proposal to the appropriate building principal no later than February 1st of the school year preceding the school year during which the job is to be shared provided that each teacher has attained professional status on the first day of the school year in which the job share is to occur. The proposal shall set forth the following details:

- a. The position to be shared.
- b. The manner in which the job is to be shared, e.g. the percentage of the job each will work.
- c. How teachers will receive the health insurance benefit; not to exceed the current costs
- d. Any other relevant information to the implementation of the proposal such as substitutes.

Granting: The proposal shall be reviewed by the building principal and the superintendent who shall notify the teachers of their decision, with the reason for granting or denying, no later than May 15th. The decision whether or not to allow the job-sharing proposal shall not be grievable or arbitrable.

Conditions: In the event that the job-sharing proposal is approved, the following conditions shall apply:

- a. Both teachers will work the first, second, and last day of the student's school year.
- b. Both teachers will attend Open Houses.
- c. Both teachers will attend all Parent/Teacher Conferences and all staff meetings.
- d. In the event that one of the teachers is absent, the partner will make every reasonable effort to cover the class. On such days, the partner teacher shall either be paid their per diem rate of pay or shall be granted an equal amount of compensatory time. (For these purposes, the per diem rate of pay shall be defined as 1/184th of the partner teacher's annual salary.) Subject to review of the superintendent, the building principal

shall designate which option shall be implemented.

e. The partner teachers shall be considered to be part-time employees and as such shall be entitled to all the rights and privileges of other Unit A, B, or C members subject to the following: Where applicable, benefits shall be prorated (e.g. each teacher shall receive one-half of their salary and shall receive either fifteen (15) half sick days or one-half (7.5) full sick days); and the cost of health insurance to the district shall not exceed the cost of health insurance for one teacher.

Term: The term of the job-sharing shall be for one (1) school year, and the partner teachers shall return to their respective assignments beginning with the school year following the school year during which the job was shared. If the partner teachers wish to extend the job sharing beyond one (1) school year, they shall apply in accordance with the Application provision of this article.

7.12 Members may be compensated at an hourly rate of \$40 per hour for school department sponsored projects. Such work can include, but is not limited to summer curriculum projects, running after school professional development, or requested participation in professional development outside of the school day. Any work beyond contractual hours must be mutually agreed upon by the member and the building principal prior to the start of the projects.

Article 8: Class Size

8.1 The Committee and the Association recognize that class size and class composition are important factors in good education and the safety of all students and will, whenever possible, subject to space availability and all other educational considerations, ensure that class size and placement are of the most effective nature for both member and pupil. Effort will be made to develop class rosters that balance various factors including size, composition, and student needs.

When class size or placement is not optimal or the member has a concern, that member may request a meeting with the building principal or designee to discuss options for optimal impact on the learning environment. Any decision by the building administrator or designee is final.

Article 9: Teacher Assignment

- 9.1 The controlling factor in the assignment and transfer of teachers and other staff shall be the instructional requirements of the school system, the building, and its pupils as finally decided by the Superintendent of schools.
- Any change of programs from the prior school year, including the schools

to which they will be assigned, the grades and/or subjects that they will have, as soon as practicable and under normal circumstances not later than June 15th.

- 9.3 In order to ensure that pupils are taught by teachers working within their areas of competence, teachers will be assigned, only temporarily and for good cause, outside the scope of their teaching certificates and/or their major or minor fields of study unless mutually agreed by the teacher and the administrator involved.
- In arranging schedules for professional employees who are assigned to more than one school, an effort will be made by the administrators to limit the amount of inter-school travel during the school day. Such professional employees who are assigned to more than one school in any one school day will receive reimbursement of whatever is allowable by the Internal Revenue Service as deductible.
- 9.5 Teacher assignments will be made without regard to race, age, religion, national origin, gender, color, sexual orientation, gender identity, ancestry, mental illness, handicap or disability, sex, genetics, active military personnel, and/or marital status.

Article 10: Transfers and Vacancies

- When an involuntary transfer is necessary, each professional employee's (1) area of competence, (2) major and/or minor field of study, (3) quality of performance, and (4) length of service in the Mendon-Upton Regional School District will be considered in determining which such employee is transferred, such transfer to be a comparable position to that already held by the employee so far as is reasonably possible. An involuntary transfer will be made only after a meeting between the employee involved and the Superintendent or their designee, at which time the employee will be notified of the reasons in writing for the transfer and the consideration, if any, given to each of the matters enumerated above.
- Written notice of an involuntary transfer shall normally be given teachers no later than May 15th. It is recognized that unusual circumstances may dictate the need for involuntary transfer after that date. In such cases, the teachers shall be notified as soon as possible.
- Teachers who desire a change in grade and/or subject assignment or who desire transfer to another building shall submit a written request to Human Resources stating the assignment preferred. Such statements shall include the grade and/or subject to which the teacher desires to be assigned or the school to which they wish to be transferred. Requests must be submitted by March 1st prior to the school year in which the transfer is requested. Requests must be renewed each year. All requests shall be acknowledged

in writing by May 15th. The final decision rests with the Superintendent.

- In the event it becomes necessary to reduce the number of employees included in the bargaining unit in Article 1, employees shall be laid off in the following order:
- To the extent possible and practical, normal attrition will be the method first used to reduce the number of positions in those classifications and/or departments in which reductions are necessary. That is, employees who resign, retire, or who otherwise terminate their employment shall not be replaced. Also included in this paragraph are those of non-professional status teachers whose employment, in conformity with the law, the Superintendent possesses exclusive discretion to renew or not to renew.
- If it is not possible to reduce Unit A by the above factors, reductions will first be made among those teachers in the departments and/or classifications to be reduced who have not attained professional status, provided there are teachers on professional status who are certified to fill those positions within respective departments and/or classifications affected by the reduction.
- A professional status teacher (Unit A) whose position is reduced shall be allowed to transfer to a position in another department, or school and/or classification held by a non-professional status teacher, provided said teacher is certified to fill the position.
- 10.5 If a reduction in teaching staff results in the layoff of a professional status teacher included in Unit A, B, C, or a nurse included in Unit C, the order of layoff shall be the following:
- Layoffs shall be conducted within disciplines based on a teacher's job performance as reflected by the teacher's past summative overall evaluation ratings as compared to other teachers' past summative overall evaluation ratings in the discipline targeted to be reduced with Proficient and Exemplary being considered equal. The number of summative evaluations compared will include all those evaluations written for teachers during the time equal to the most recently hired professional status teacher in the targeted discipline. If the summative overall rating is the same, the Committee will reduce staff based on individual results within the standards according to the following priorities:
 - 1. Standards 1 & 2
 - 2. Standard 3
 - 3. Standard 4

If there is a tie using the above criteria, the tie shall be broken by seniority, with the least senior teacher in the discipline targeted laid off first.

Teachers may be laid off due to declining enrollment, budgetary reasons, or reorganization in accordance with M.G.L. c. 71, §42.

Seniority in this article shall be defined as a teacher's length of continuous uninterrupted service in years, months, and days, commencing on the first date of employment (not hiring) as a teacher on a paid basis in the Mendon-Upton Regional School district. Teachers who work part-time will commence earning seniority credit for part-time service as of September 1, 2011. Years of service for part-time work will be computed on a pro rata basis; for example, a teacher who works half-time will be credited with 0.5 years of service.

Any leave of absence granted by the Committee shall be construed to be non-active service and will not be included in determining the full length of service.

In the event a reduction of staff is necessary and there is more than one teacher with equal seniority as described above, the teacher with greater academic preparation will be deemed to be the most senior. Academic preparation will be controlled by Appendix A of the Collective Bargaining Agreement between the parties as follows:

Bachelors: 1 point

Bachelors + 15: 2 points

Masters: 3 points Master + 15: 4 points Master + 30: 5 points Master + 45: 6 points Master + 60: 7 points

The words "qualified" or "qualifications" as used in this agreement mean possessing requisite certification required by M.G.L. C. 71 Section 38G.

- The parties shall confer annually on or about October 1st to review the seniority list based on date of hire and academic preparation per §10.5.2 and shall discuss a proposed list with their constituencies over the course of each October to resolve any issues. On or about November 1 of each year questions about hire dates and academic preparation will be conclusively resolved by the means identified in §10.5.2. In cases of ties, the seniority date shall be established by drawing names.
- A professional status teacher (Units A and B) whose position is reduced shall be allowed to transfer to a position in another department, or school, and/or classification held by a teacher with less seniority provided such employee is certified to teach in that area.
- An employee affected by reduction in staff shall be notified no later than May 15th of the school year preceding the year in which the reduction is to

take place.

Professional status employees who have been laid off shall be entitled to recall rights to positions that they had previously performed and for which they continue to be qualified in the Mendon-Upton Regional School System for a period of three (3) years from the effective date of their respective layoffs. During the recall period, employees shall be notified by certified mail to their last address of record. Termination shall occur if the employee fails to report to work or fails to respond in writing to the notice of recall, within two weeks of delivery to the last address of record. Laid-off employees shall be hired before other applicants for vacant positions as they occur in the inverse order of their respective layoff and all benefits to which an employee was entitled at the time of layoff, if still in effect, shall be restored in full upon re-employ within the recall period. During the recall period, teachers that have been laid off shall be given preference on the substitute list if they so desire.

Article 11: Advertising of Promotions and Other Vacancies

- Whenever any vacancy in any position occurs, it will be publicized by the Superintendent by means of an email to all staff at least seven (7) calendar days in advance of the appointment. In the notice, the qualifications for the job classification and its duties will be clearly set forth. During the months of July and August, notice of any such position will be emailed to all Bargaining Unit members at their email address. The Superintendent will post all other vacancies as soon as they occur for a minimum period of seven (7) days prior to appointment. Vacancies occurring between August 15-September 15 may be filled after notifying the MURTA E-Board and it will be publicized by the Superintendent by means of an email to all staff at least 2 business days in advance of the appointment.
- Stipend positions that will be funded shall be reviewed and renewed annually. The Superintendent shall meet with the Association every year, approximately during the month of April, to review stipend positions that will be funded for the following school year and review timelines for the application and renewal process. All stipend positions will be posted annually and are one-year positions. All stipend positions will be posted to all staff by May 15th. Interested parties shall submit applications by June 10th. The Superintendent shall notify those appointed to stipend positions by the last day of school (approximately June 15th).

Stipends will be subject to the same COLA as Unit A.

All teachers will be given an opportunity to make an application for such positions, and the Principal agrees to give due weight to the professional background and attainments of all applicants. Preference will be given to an applicant from within the system if their educational qualifications,

experience, and potential for the position are, in the opinion of the

Superintendent and the Principal, equal to those of any other applicant. It is recognized that the filling of the aforementioned positions is by law the sole responsibility of the Superintendent acting upon them with the recommendation of the Principal.

Appointments will be made without regard to race, age, religion, national origin, gender, color, sexual orientation, gender identity, ancestry, mental illness, handicap or disability, sex, genetics, active military personnel and/or marital status.

Article 12: Personnel Files

Teachers will have the right, upon request, to review the contents of their personnel file up to twice a year. A teacher will be entitled to have a representative of the Association accompany him/her during such review, and to receive a copy of anything in the file.

Article 13: Discipline

- No material derogatory to a teacher's conduct, service, character, or personality will be placed in their personnel file unless the teacher has had an opportunity to review the material. The teacher will acknowledge that they have had the opportunity to review such material by affixing their signature to the copy to be filed, with the express understanding that such signature in no way indicates agreement with the contents thereof. The teacher will also have the right to submit a written answer to such material, and their answer shall be reviewed by the Superintendent and must be attached to the file copy.
- In the case of any complaint received by the administration, a teacher will be promptly notified of the complaint, the source of the complaint and the disposition of the complaint. The Association recognizes the authority and responsibility of the Principals for disciplining or reprimanding a teacher for delinquency of professional performance. This should be done privately. If a teacher is to be disciplined or reprimanded by a member of the administration above the level of principal, it is to be done only after a consultation with the principal.
- A member of the Association shall be entitled to have a representative of the Association, if they choose, when they are required to meet with the administrative personnel for an alleged infraction of discipline or delinquency in professional performance which the member believes may result in the imposition of discipline.

- No teacher with professional teacher status will be disciplined, dismissed, reprimanded, reduced in rank or compensation, or deprived of any professional advantage without just cause.
- The dismissal of a non-professional status teacher during the school year shall not be an arbitrary or capricious exercise of the District's management right pursuant to Article 3.1 of this agreement. The employee shall have an opportunity to be heard and represented during any investigatory interview(s) in accordance with the Weingarten rules if they so request. A claim that such a discharge was arbitrary or capricious is subject to the grievance and arbitration clause of this contract.
- The above provisions shall not apply to teachers on a ninety-day probationary period, or the non-renewal of non-professional status teachers.
- Except as specifically provided above, the provisions of M.G.L. c. 71, secs. 41 and 42, as may be amended from time to time, shall control.
- Management action relating to teachers shall be in conformance with State statutes.

Article 14: Salaries

- 14.1 The salaries of all persons covered by the agreement shall consist of two (2) components:
- 14.1.1 Basic salary
- 14.1. Extra-duty compensation
- The salary shall be in accordance with the Appendices attached hereto and made a part hereof.
- Evidence of degree status is required of all teachers on employment or on receipt of a degree. Adjustments upon change in educational attainment will be made twice annually, at the beginning of the school year and in February. Notification of a change in educational attainment will be made once annually, on or before February 1 of the year preceding the change, to be effective the following school year.
- 14.4 All members of the bargaining unit shall be paid their annual salary in either twenty-two (22) or twenty-six (26) equal payments. If an employee elects to receive twenty-six (26) checks, they may receive a lump sum, which may constitute several checks at the end of the fiscal year, which payment

satisfies the Committee's obligation to make twenty-six (26) payments. Staff members will notify the business office of their proposed method of receipt of payment on or before July 1st of each fiscal year.

- 14.5 All employees will be paid via the Direct Deposit Program.
- High School Guidance Counselors shall be available as in the past for service a maximum of five (5) days before the opening and five (5) days after the closing of the school year. For each day of service, each counselor shall be compensated at their per diem rate. The administration will make a good faith effort to notify the affected guidance counselors at least two (2) weeks prior to the close of school and two (2) weeks prior to the opening of school as to the number of days they will be working and when this work shall be completed. The parties acknowledge that the days worked will be at the discretion of the administration.

Article 15: Sick Leave

- Each professional employee working under contract will be allowed fifteen (15) days of sick leave annually at full pay for personal illness cumulative to one-hundred eighty (180) days.
- In appropriate cases, a physician's certificate may be requested by the Committee to affirm the nature of the illness and/or that the staff member has recovered sufficiently to warrant returning to school after a two (2) week absence.
- Upon written request by any professional employee, a statement of unused sick leave will be provided.
- A teacher on leave granted pursuant to and subject to the terms and conditions of Massachusetts General Laws Chapter 149, Section 105D, may utilize during such leave any accumulated sick leave to which they are entitled up to a maximum of eight (8) weeks under the following terms and conditions:
- 15.4.1 The teacher continues to work until such time as they are physically disabled from working. The Committee may require the teacher to produce medical certification of disability as aforementioned.
- 15.4.2 The teacher returns to work as soon as they are no longer disabled from working. The Sick Leave Bank Committee may request additional medical certification selected and determined by the Sick Leave Bank Committee that the teacher is able to work.
- Upon retirement or resignation, a professional employee with a minimum of fifteen (15) years of service in the Mendon-Upton Regional School System shall be paid \$35.00 per day in unused accumulated sick days not to exceed 180 days. In case of the death of an employee, such money will

be paid to the beneficiaries.

Pursuant to MA State Law, members may use their sick leave to care for sick members of their immediate families. For the purpose of this contract, immediate family is construed to include only parent, stepparent, parent-in-law, grandparent, step grandparent, grandchild, step grandchild, wife, husband, domestic partner, child, stepchild, brother, stepbrother, sister, or stepsister or person residing in the immediate household as approved by the Superintendent of Schools.

Medical documentation will be needed to use sick leave in excess of five (5) consecutive days.

All teachers shall be eligible to participate in a sick leave incentive program to be paid upon the completion of the school year. In the course of any given year, teachers who use two (2) or fewer sick days through the course of the year shall be eligible for the following bonuses:

Use of zero (0) days - \$325 Use of one (1) day - \$275 Use of two (2) days - \$225

Article 16: Sick Leave Bank

- A Sick Leave Bank will be established for use by members of Bargaining Units A, B, C, Custodians and Administrative Assistants who have exhausted their own accrued sick leave and have a prolonged and/or serious illness or injury. Participation is mandatory by all Bargaining Unit members.
- 16.1.1 Initially, each member of the Bargaining Unit shall contribute one (1) day from their sick leave accumulation to the Sick Leave Bank in order to fund the Bank. In the event the Sick Leave Bank is reduced to twenty-nine (29) days or less, the Bargaining Unit shall replenish the Sick Leave Bank in the current year by contributing one (1) or more days per Bargaining Unit member. No more than three (3) Sick Leave Bank days shall be contributed from Bargaining Unit member's sick leave accounts in any one school year. At no point shall the Sick Leave Bank contain more days than three (3) times the number of members in the Bargaining Unit. Sick Leave Bank days unused in one school year shall be carried over into the next school year at the number of days remaining in the Bank or one hundred (100) days, whichever is the smaller amount. In each succeeding year by September 1st, the Association shall notify the Bargaining Unit members and the Superintendent of the initial yearly contribution to be made to the Sick Leave Bank by the Bargaining Unit's members. At a minimum, the yearly starting contribution will be one (1) day for each Bargaining Unit member. Effective September 1st and thereafter, those Bargaining Unit members who are new to the system shall contribute the number of days so designated by the Bargaining Unit as the current year's minimum contribution.
- 16.1.2 Those Bargaining Unit members who, during the course of the year do not

have a sufficient number of days to cover an additional sick day contribution requested by the Association will be allowed to borrow from the succeeding year and then repay the district in the succeeding year. In the event an employee borrows from a succeeding school year and leaves the district prior to repaying said days, the number of days owed the district will be deducted from the sick bank.

- The Sick Leave Bank shall be administered by a Sick Leave Bank Committee consisting of five (5) members. Two (2) members will be designated by the School Committee to serve at its pleasure, and two (2) members will be designated by the Association to serve at its pleasure. The fifth member shall be appointed annually on a rotating basis, by the first day of the school year on which teachers are required to report for work, by the Committee or the Association.
- Any initial grant by the Sick Leave Bank Committee shall not exceed thirty (30) days. If an individual's need continues, reapplication to the Sick Leave Bank Committee may be made for subsequent extensions up to a maximum of thirty (30) days each. Days not used from the sick leave grant will be returned to the Sick Leave Bank upon the return to regular duty.
- A Bargaining Unit member who has received a grant from the Sick Leave Bank will, upon return to their regular duties, receive five (5) sick leave days from the Sick Leave Bank to be used in the event of an illness during the remainder of the school year. Unused days from the returning five (5) day grant will be returned to the Sick Leave Bank on the last day of school.
- Subject to the provisions of this Article, the Sick Leave Bank Committee shall use the following criteria in administering the Bank and determining eligibility and the amount of leave to grant.
- Adequate medical evidence, including diagnosis and prognosis, of serious and/or prolonged illness or injury and expected date of return to work. This information shall remain confidential with the Sick Leave Bank Committee.

The Sick Leave Bank Committee may not act without submission of a physician's statement, except that the physician's statement may be submitted after the granting of days in cases of emergencies as determined by the Sick Leave Bank Committee. After an initial grant of thirty (30) days to an individual, the Sick Leave Bank Committee may have the applicant examined by a second physician selected by the Sick Leave Bank Committee, the cost of which will be paid for by the School Committee. The Sick Leave Bank Committee may ask for additional medical verification, as it deems necessary.

16.1.8 The decision of the Sick Leave Bank Committee with respect to eligibility and entitlement shall be final and binding and not subject to appeal except for reconsideration to the Sick Leave Bank Committee itself, nor shall it be subject to grievance and/or arbitration.

In administering the Sick Leave Bank, the Sick Leave Bank Committee may consider a recipient's undue delay in processing retirement or other termination of employment on account of disability or illness.

Article 17: Temporary Leaves of Absence

- 17.1 Members of Units A, B, and C will be entitled to the following temporary paid leaves of absence each school day with the approval of the Superintendent.
- 17.1.1 Three (3) days without loss of pay shall be available to unit members for personal reasons which require absence during school hours in accordance with the following procedure:
- 17.1.1.1 Notification for such days must be made as soon as possible, but no less than three (3) days in advance of the date on which the absence is anticipated (except in cases of emergency).
- 17.1.1.2 Such days shall be granted for the conduct of, but not limited to, legal business, religious holidays, wedding of an immediate family member, attendance at academic exercises or professional activities of a primary interest to the staff member or of value to the school system.
- 17.1.1.3 Two (2) additional days may be granted at the discretion of the Superintendent whose consent to such request shall not be unreasonably withheld. Requests to observe religious holidays shall fall under these days. Unit members will still have access to their three personal days (as stated in 17.1.1) that may be taken without explanation. Requests to observe religious holidays not observed in the school calendar shall fall under these days. Unit members will still have access to their three personal days (as stated in 17.1.1) that may be taken without explanation provided they notify administration that the use is expressly in observance of a religious holiday.
- 17.1.1.4 The parties do not intend or contemplate that personal days may be used to extend vacations or holiday weekends unless such days are utilized for one of the acceptable purposes stated above. If a day is requested to extend vacations or holiday weekends, it may be granted without pay only with the Superintendent's pre-approval. Personal days shall not be taken consecutively for the purposes of taking a vacation when school is in session. Vacations should not be scheduled prior to the 185th day on the school calendar to ensure that the school year is completed. Should a member wish to use a day to extend a holiday weekend or vacation, they may trade two (2) personal days (from the three (3) personal days) for one (1) such day.
- 17.1.1.5 Teachers will be eligible for compensatory time for participation in activities for students and student engagement in the community taking place beyond the regular school day/hours.
- 17.1.1.6 Compensatory time, when granted in lieu of financial compensation, may

be used at any time at the Superintendent or their designee's discretion. Any application for compensatory time must give forty-eight (48) hours of notice. Reasonable requests will be honored.

- A Unit member shall be allowed time necessary to appear in any court or administrative action for which said member has been subpoenaed, provided that such court or administrative action arises out of the member's employment with the MURSD. If such appearance is required on a work day, the unit member shall be granted leave with pay, and if such appearance is required on a non-work day, e.g., during a school or summer vacation period, the unit member shall receive their per diem rate of pay. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the unit member is a party to the proceeding, i.e., the plaintiff, defendant, or grievant or an individual whose actions or inactions gave rise directly or indirectly to the court or administrative action, then any time required to appear in such action shall be unpaid or accrued personal days may be used.
- A unit member shall be allowed time necessary up to a maximum of ten (10) days per school year for persons called into temporary active duty of any unit of the U.S. Reserves or the State National Guard, provided such obligations cannot be fulfilled on days when school is not in session and a statement to that effect is obtained from the unit commanding officer. Salary for the period of leave shall be adjusted to equal the difference between the service pay (less travel) and the teacher's regular salary.
- Staff members attending approved conferences, accompanying students on field trips, or participating in educational activities relating to the program of the School District shall be considered to be working on behalf of the District with no deduction of compensation or leave time. The Committee agrees to allocate funds for such activities that are educationally meritorious. All such activities must be approved in advance by the Superintendent or any other appropriate administrator.
- Up to five (5) school days at any one (1) time in the event of death in the immediate family. For the purpose of this contract, immediate family is construed to include only parent, stepparent, parent-in-law, grandparent, step-grandparent, grandparent-in-law, grandchild, step-grandchild, wife, husband, domestic partner, child, step-child, brother, step brother, sister, step-sister, or person residing in the immediate household as approved by the Superintendent of Schools. Three (3) days shall be provided in the event of the death of a brother-in-law or sister-in-law. One (1) day shall be provided in the event of death of an aunt, uncle, niece or nephew.
- A temporary leave of absence will be granted for teachers called to jury duty. A teacher granted leave under this section shall be paid regular compensation for the period of such leave, less the compensation received by him/her for serving on the jury.
- 17.5 All requests for such leave must be made in writing to the principal as far in advance as possible, so that appropriate steps can be taken to secure a substitute for such person while on leave.

Article 18: Extended Leaves of Absence

- A leave of absence without pay of up to two (2) years will be granted to any teacher who serves as an exchange teacher and is a full-time participant in such a program. Upon return from such leave the teacher will be considered as if they were actively employed by the District during the leave and they will be placed on a salary schedule at the level they would have achieved if they had not been absent. If the teacher does not plan to return, the Superintendent must be notified by April 1st of the school year prior to the September the teacher is intended to return.
- Military leave without pay will be granted to any teacher who is inducted or enlists in any branch of the armed forces of the United States. Upon return from such leave, a teacher will be placed on a salary schedule at the level they would have achieved had they remained actively employed in the system during the period of their absence up to a maximum of two (2) years.
- A teacher in the school system who wishes to continue employment in the school system may apply for and receive a leave of absence without pay under the following conditions:
- 18.3.1 Short-Term Parental Leave
- 18.3.1.1 Upon receipt of at least two (2) weeks written notice of a member's anticipated date of departure and intention to return, the Superintendent or their designee shall grant a leave of absence without pay for parental leave to all bargaining unit members beginning no earlier than the delivery or placement of the child for up to 60 (sixty) full consecutive days' worth of reportable school days in a twelve (12) month period (184) in accordance with the provisions of Massachusetts General Laws, Chapter 149, Section 105D, unless a better benefit is conferred **in** this article or by FMLA. Reasons for parental leave include but are not limited to childbirth, adoption, foster child placement and medical care.

The Superintendent or their designee will respond in writing within thirty (30) calendar days of receipt of the member's notice acknowledging confirmation of the return date.

- This leave may be extended by mutual agreement between the member and the Superintendent in order that a member who has been on short-term maternity leave status may return at an appropriate time in consideration of the students' program(s) (such as the beginning of a semester, beginning of a marking term, or after a vacation period), or when absence due to medical complications resulting from the pregnancy extends beyond the twelve (12) in 18.3.1.1 above.
- 18.3.1.3 A member who takes sixty (60) full consecutive reportable school days pursuant to the provisions of Massachusetts General Laws Chapter 149 Section 105D will be paid their full salary for the first ten (10) full school days of their leave and may use accumulated sick leave and/or personal

days as set forth in 15.4 of this agreement for the remaining fifty (50) days of leave.

- 18.3.1.4 If an employee is unable to work due to the process of adoption requirements prior to the placement of the child, prior to the adoption of a child an employee may use up to five (5) sick and/or personal days to attend to legal business related to the adoption of the child. This is in addition to the parental leave described above.
- 18.3.2 Extended Child-Rearing Leave
- 18.3.2.1 The Superintendent shall be notified in writing not later than fifty (50) days before the anticipated commencement of the leave, barring any extenuating circumstances. Extended child rearing leave shall begin at the time stated in the written notification to the Superintendent but may be adjusted after the birth or placement of the child in coordination with the superintendent and/or designee.
- 18.3.2.2 Said extended child rearing leave should begin at a time corresponding to the beginning of a new semester (or other appropriate time such as after a vacation period or marking period) provided that, up to this time, the teacher can perform normal duties satisfactorily.
- Said extended child rearing leave shall be without pay and shall terminate either the first of September following the birth or adoption of the child or the following September 1st. A teacher may return earlier if the teacher and the Committee so agree. Extensions of leave may be granted at the discretion of the Committee.
- A leave of absence without pay or increment of up to one (1) year will be granted for the purpose of caring for a newly adopted child.
- 18.3.2.5 The member must notify the Superintendent by the first of April of the year in which the leave expires of their intention to return in September, apply for an extension, or to retire from the school system. Failure to comply with this requirement will be considered as their resignation from the school system. Upon return from such leave, the teacher will be assigned to her former position or to as comparable a position as possible.
- A teacher returning from child rearing leave will be placed on a salary scale on the step held prior to withdrawal. Such leave of absence shall not count toward professional status. However, if a teacher is employed more than one half (92 days) of the year in which the leave commences, they shall be eligible for incremental credit and shall receive credit toward professional status following their return to active employment in the Mendon Upton Regional School District.
- All district policies and procedures will be wholly consistent with all clauses and laws incorporated from the Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA), including Chapter 39, which may be found at: https://www.dol.gov/sites/dolgov/files/WHD/legacy/files/FOH Ch39.pdf
- A leave of absence without pay or increment of up to one (1) year will be

granted for the purpose of caring for a sick member of the teacher's immediate family. Additional leave may be granted at the discretion of the Committee. All members of the bargaining unit are entitled to the provisions of the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993 if such benefits are applicable to them.

- A teacher may be granted leave of absence, without pay or increment for up to one year for health reasons. Requests for such leave will be supported by appropriate medical evidence. Additional leave may be granted at the discretion of the Committee.
- All benefits to which a teacher was entitled at the time their leave of absence commenced, including unused accumulated sick leave, will be restored to their upon return. The returning teacher will be assigned to the same position, if available, which they held at the time said leave commenced. That is providing, however, that the Committee shall not be required to restore a teacher on extended leave to their previous or comparable position if the returning teacher has either been laid off or would be subject to layoff pursuant to 10.4 10.7 if reinstated.
- A teacher may be granted up to two (2) years leave of absence for personal reasons. Such leave will be without pay or increment. The teacher must notify the Superintendent by April 1st of the year in which their leave expires of their intentions to return in September, apply for an extension, or to retire from the school system. Failure to comply with this requirement will be considered as their resignation from the school system.
- All requests for extensions or renewals of leaves will be applied for and answered in writing.

Article 19: Sabbatical Leave

- Upon the recommendation of the Superintendent of Schools, a Sabbatical Leave may be granted by the Committee for advanced study or research to teachers who have completed seven (7) consecutive years of service in Mendon-Upton Regional School District, where such experience would in the opinion of the Committee, increase the teacher's professional ability.
- 19.2 Personnel requesting such leave must submit their applications in writing to the Superintendent of Schools not later than February 1 of the school year, preceding the school year for which the leave is requested. Action shall be taken on such requests as soon as possible and not later than April 1st. Such leave shall commence on the first day of the school year for which Sabbatical Leave was granted.
- 19.3 Successful applicants will receive one-half of the salary to which they would have been entitled.
- 19.4 Before accepting such Sabbatical Leave, the teacher shall enter into a

written agreement in accordance with the terms of General Laws, Chapter 71, Section 41A to return to active service of the Mendon-Upton Regional School District for a period of twice the length of such leave. If the professional employee fails to return to the system for the specified amount of time, except in the case of permanent disability or death, they will refund to the District an amount equal to such proportion of service not rendered.

- 19.5 Upon return from such leave, a professional employee for salary purposes shall be considered as if they had been actively employed by the Committee during the leave.
- No more than two (2) teachers will be granted Sabbaticals at any one (1) time (no more than one (1) at a time from each administrative level, i.e. PreK-4, 5-8, 9-12). However, in case the number of applications shall exceed the number of Sabbatical Leaves of absence that the Committee plans to grant for a particular school year, the recommendation of the Superintendent shall be made on the basis of the value of the proposed leave to the educational system of the Regional School District.

Article 20: On the Job Injury

Worker's Compensation. Whenever a teacher is absent from school as a result of personal injury (caused by an accident) arising out of and in the course of the teacher's employment, the teacher will be paid by the School District the difference between the teacher's full salary and payments received under the Massachusetts Workers' Compensation Insurance.

Article 21: Insurance

- 21.1 The Committee will pay a portion of life and health insurance programs as described below:
- 21.1.1 Seventy-five (75%) percent of \$2,000 term life insurance plan of the type in effect to all employees listed in Units A, B, and C of the Mendon-Upton Regional School District, provided that they are participants in the health insurance program offered by the District under this contract or a comparable health and accident insurance program.

The Association will carry a \$3,000 supplementary term life insurance policy, available to Association members who are represented members of the \$2,000 program described in the paragraph above. The staff member will pay the cost of the supplementary life insurance. The Committee will cooperate in administration of the program.

21.1.2. The Committee shall pay seventy-five percent (75%) of individual or family coverage, whichever applies in the particular case, for Harvard-Pilgrim PPO and HMO plans of the type in effect to all employees listed in Units A, B, and C of the Mendon-Upton Regional School District.

- Seventy-five percent (75%) of the cost of supplemental health insurance for employees who choose to qualify for Medicare. Employees who retire before the age of sixty-five (65) may elect the same health insurance coverage where the premium payments will be divided equally (50%/50%) between the district and the covered person with benefits for a spouse or surviving spouse. If the retired employee is eligible for Medicare before the spouse is eligible or if the spouse is not eligible for Medicare, the spouse or surviving spouse may continue to be covered under the district plan as a single member with the same (50%/50%) split.
- 21.1.4 Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 21.1.2 and Article 21.1.4 the parties agree as follows:

The Association agrees to continue Harvard Pilgrim Health Care through the no-deductible Harvard Pilgrim Health Mass Strategies Health for a period of one year. The district will set aside \$50,000 for co-insurance. Members can apply for reimbursement as needed. Claims will be paid twice per year and funds will be equally distributed until the \$50,000 has been exhausted. This plan will be reassessed on a yearly basis. If the parties agree to change to a plan with a deductible the district will agree to continue to pay 100% of the deductible and 75% of the premium.

21.2 If two or more employees belong to a single-family unit, each will be eligible for coverage under paragraph 21.1 above.

Article 22: Payroll Deductions

The Committee agrees that in accordance with the provisions of Massachusetts General Laws, Chapter 180, Section 17(c) of the Massachusetts General Laws, it will request the District Treasurer to deduct membership dues from the salaries of its teachers who, by October 1st of each school year, have voluntarily submitted a written authorization currently used by the parties hereto.

The Committee will incur no liability for loss of dues monies after properly depositing the same addressed to the Association in the United States Mail. The Association shall indemnify and save the Committee harmless against all claims, demands, suits or other forms of liability, which may arise by reason of any action taken in making deductions and remitting the same to the Association pursuant to this Section. Beginning with the second payroll in October, deductions shall be made in equal installments throughout the payroll year.

Pursuant to Massachusetts General Laws, Chapter 149, Section 178B, the Committee agrees that it will request the District Treasurer to deduct from the salaries of teachers who have on file with the Committee an executed Credit Union Deduction Authorization Card, an amount(s) specified for the purchasing of shares of or making deposits in, or repaying a loan from the MTA Credit Union.

- Professional employees will be eligible to participate in the "tax sheltered" annuity plan established pursuant to Section 403(b) and 457 of the IRS Code and subject to the provisions of M.G.L. c. 71, §37B.
- Pursuant to the provisions of Massachusetts General Laws Chapter 697 of the acts of 1987 (the Public Employee Pension Reform Act) effective January 12, 1988, the Committee agrees to: 1) Make the necessary changes in its payroll procedures to allow employee contributions to health insurance to be paid with pre-tax earnings.

Article 23: Duration

- If any provision of this agreement or any application of the agreement to any employee or group of employees shall be found contrary to law, then such provision or application shall not be deemed valid and subsisting, except to the extent permitted by law, but all other provisions or applications will continue in full force and effect.
- This agreement shall become effective July 1, 2024 and shall remain in effect up to and including June 30, 2027. Negotiations for a successor agreement shall commence no later than December 1, 2026. The Committee will provide electronic copies of this agreement in its final form to all members after review of a draft provided to the Committee by the Association within forty-five (45) days of ratification by all parties, said Committee review not to exceed fourteen (14) days.

Article 24: Staff Conduct

- All staff members have a responsibility to familiarize themselves with and abide by the laws of the State as these affect their work, the policies of the School Committee, their professional code of ethics and the regulations designed to implement them.
- In the area of personal conduct, the Committee expects that teachers and others will conduct themselves in a manner that not only reflects credit to the school system, but also sets forth a model worthy of emulation by students.
- All staff members will be expected to carry out their assigned responsibilities with conscientious concern.
- Essential to the success of ongoing school operations and the instructional program are the following specific responsibilities, which will be required of all personnel:

Support and enforcement of policies of the Committee and their implementing regulations and school rules in regard to students.

Diligence in submitting required reports promptly at the times specified. Care and protection of school property.

Concern for and attention to their own and the school system's legal responsibility for the safety and welfare of students.

No employee of the School District will engage in or have financial interest in, directly or indirectly, any activity that conflicts or raises a reasonable question of conflict with his duties and responsibilities toward the school system. Nor will any employee engage in any type of private business during school time or on school property.

Article 25: Faculty Meetings

All faculty will be given a draft overview of all staff meetings twenty-four (24) hours prior to the scheduled meeting. This will enable teachers to contact administration for any clarification of topics.

Article 26: Health and Safety

- The Committee and the Association affirm their commitment to the maintenance of an environmentally safe school system and an atmosphere conducive to teaching and learning. To those ends, the parties agree as follows:
 - 1. A Health and Safety Committee (HSC) will be established consisting of two (2) representatives appointed by the School Committee and two (2) representatives appointed by the Association.
 - 2. Individual concerns regarding matters of health and safety shall, where applicable be brought to the immediate attention of the building principal.
 - 3. The HSC shall meet at least four (4) times a year with all building principals and Association building representatives to hear concerns regarding issues of health and safety and where appropriate, investigate such matters. In the event that the HSC determines that the investigation requires specialized services which can only be provided by an outside agency, the HSC shall request that the School committee approve the cost of such services. Reports of the HSC shall be presented to the School Committee which shall take such reports under consideration and take such action as the School Committee deems necessary. The HSC will be informed as to the disposition of the matter within sixty (60) days of referral to the School Committee. If needed the HSC may meet more often than quarterly, if the need exists in order to address concerns in a timely fashion.
 - 4. In addition, the HSC will be encouraged to create health and safety information programs.
 - 5. The HSC shall meet before the start of the school year to discuss and plan existing health and safety provisions, including those

related to existing COVID-19 mitigation strategies, to ensure the health and safety of all members.

Article 27: Professional Development

- A Professional Development Committee will be convened at least quarterly, to be comprised of district administrators and teachers from each of the district's four (4) schools and will be co-chaired by MURTA leadership/or designee and district administration/or designee. The teacher representatives will be representative of various content areas and grade levels and membership on the committee will be open to all who are interested. Administrators and teachers shall work together to establish mutually beneficial goals with consideration for the many different disciplines and varying professional development needs of the membership. The charge of the PD Committee shall be to establish for each year a professional development plan aligned with state, district, school and educator goals and aligned to MA Standards for High Quality PD and relicensure.
 - A. To establish for each year a professional development focus, consistent with the system-wide goals. The number of professional development days is set forth in Article 7, Section 7.1.
 - B. To plan and arrange for the provision of professional development programs which will be offered through the system. These programs will be made available at a variety of times, such as, but not limited to, before school, after school and during school vacation periods.
 - C. To monitor and evaluate the system's professional development program. Additional Professional Development Opportunities
 - A. If funding is available from a budget line item funded for workshops, seminars, conferences, or other professional improvement sessions, the Committee will pay the reasonable expenses (including fees, meals, lodging and/or transportation) incurred by teachers who attend workshops, seminars, conferences, or other professional improvement sessions with the advance approval of the Superintendent. The Superintendent's decision relative to these activities is discretionary and not subject to the grievance and arbitration provisions of the collective bargaining agreement.
 - B. Each teacher may be granted at least one (1) day paid leave to attend the educational program of another school/district only if funding is available from a budget line item—funded for visiting educational programs. The teacher shall file a request in writing—with the Superintendent at least ten (10) work days before the date of attendance stating the relevance of the visit to the MURSD, or the teacher's professional goals of educator plan under 603 CMR 35.00, or the educator's specific job duties. The—Superintendent's decision is discretionary and not subject to the grievance or arbitration provision of the collective bargaining agreement.

- One (1) of the district full professional days shall be set aside to be utilized by educators for the pursuit of individual/team professional development. Plans shall be submitted at least three weeks in advance of the professional development day for approval by the co-chairs of the professional development committee. Outside speakers and general district presentations will not be scheduled for this day unless requested by the teaching staff.
- If the Superintendent requests that a teacher or teachers attend workshops, seminars, or conferences, the Committee shall pay reasonable expenses (including but not limited to registration fees, meals, lodging, or transportation) incurred by teachers who attend such workshops, seminars, or other approved professional improvement sessions. If the teacher requests attendance at a workshop, seminar, conference or other professional improvement seminars, said reasonable expenses shall be paid if such attendance receives the prior approval of the Superintendent and if the expenses are appropriately budgeted.
- Full day professional development days held at Mendon-Upton facilities will fall within the hours of 8:00 am and 2:30 pm. This does not apply to professional development activities occurring off-site. Early release professional development days will follow the regular hours of the school to which members are assigned unless exceptions are mutually agreed upon by individual Association members and administration.
- 27.5 The two (2) early release days added will replace the two (2) March Parent/Teacher Conferences days to be used for professional development.

Article 28: Association Release Time

The Superintendent shall allow the President and/or designee of the Teachers' Association three (3) days per school year of release time for the express purpose of conducting MTA business and/or MURTA business which can only be accomplished during times when school is in session.

The President of the Association shall inform the Superintendent of their need for release time as soon as the need is known and, in all cases, notice of at least twenty-four (24) hours prior to conducting the business shall be provided. The association will be responsible for the cost of a substitute.

To afford Association leadership time to meet with administrators and educators, the Association President(s) will be released from all formally assigned non-teaching duties including but not limited to: hall duty, bus duty, recess duty, student dismissal duty, and detention duty, etc.

Article 29: District Calendar

In the event that a substantive change is necessary to the school calendar,

the District will contact MURTA Leadership to initiate bargaining. The District and Committee agree to meet with MURTA Leadership in order to complete bargaining prior to the vote by the Committee.

Starting during the 2021-22 school year, should school be in session on June 19th, there will be no classes as Juneteenth is now a federally recognized holiday.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties to this agreement have caused these presents to be executed by their agents hereunto duly authorized, and their seals to be affixed hereto as of the 1st day of July, 2024.

Mendon-Upton Regional	Mendon-Upton Regional			
School Committee	Teachers Association			
Matthe Hapen May Samen Wille Kidwgni El R Br Am My	Lawrie a. Holloway			

FY2025	3.00%						
Step	[BA]	[BA+15]	[MA]	[MA+15]	MA+30	MA+45	MA+60
1							
2							
3	\$57,847.89	\$60,173.63	\$62,068.83	\$63,647.82	\$65,508.00	\$67,199.26	\$68,542.38
4	\$60,577.39	\$63,560.27	\$65,342.17	\$67,244.58	\$69,170.68	\$70,536.46	\$71,946.53
5	\$64,795.24	\$67,510.32	\$69,460.11	\$71,395.48	\$73,334.97	\$75,107.60	\$76,609.34
6	\$67,639.07	\$70,615.77	\$72,586.16	\$74,570.97	\$76,311.67	\$78,334.59	\$79,900.19
7	\$70,676.54	\$73,446.21	\$75,707.06	\$77,735.13	\$79,702.43	\$81,748.01	\$83,953.24
8	\$73,711.95	\$76,790.62	\$79,199.79	\$80,875.60	\$83,112.76	\$84,981.18	\$86,680.68
9	\$76,350.81	\$79,871.35	\$82,343.35	\$84,217.95	\$86,486.01	\$88,377.09	\$90,144.57
10	\$79,942.42	\$82,956.20	\$85,071.82	\$87,546.91	\$89,892.22	\$91,795.66	\$93,632.15
11	\$84,790.63	\$88,140.19	\$88,367.82	\$90,881.02	\$93,239.72	\$95,067.97	\$96,969.35
12			\$93,421.00	\$96,095.91	\$96,596.49	\$98,801.72	\$100,777.26
13					\$101,927.77	\$104,300.89	\$106,387.67
FY2026	3.00%						
Step	[BA]	[BA+15]	[MA]	[MA+15]	MA+30	MA+45	MA+60
1							
2	φ <u>το</u> του ου	404.070.04	\$00.000.00	\$05.557.05	\$07.470.04	\$00.045.04	Φ 7 0.500.05
3	\$59,583.33	\$61,978.84	\$63,930.89	\$65,557.25	\$67,473.24	\$69,215.24	\$70,598.65
4	\$62,394.71	\$65,467.08	\$67,302.44	\$69,261.92	\$71,245.80	\$72,652.55	\$74,104.93
5	\$66,739.10	\$69,535.63	\$71,543.91	\$73,537.34	\$75,535.02	\$77,360.83	\$78,907.62
6	\$69,668.24	\$72,734.24	\$74,763.74	\$76,808.10	\$78,601.02	\$80,684.63	\$82,297.20
7	\$72,796.84	\$75,649.60	\$77,978.27	\$80,067.18	\$82,093.50	\$84,200.45	\$86,471.84
8	\$75,923.31	\$79,094.34	\$81,575.78	\$83,301.87	\$85,606.14	\$87,530.62	\$89,281.10
9	\$78,641.33	\$82,267.49	\$84,813.65	\$86,744.49	\$89,080.59	\$91,028.40	\$92,848.91
10	\$82,340.69	\$85,444.89	\$87,623.97	\$90,173.32	\$92,588.99	\$94,549.53	\$96,441.11
11	\$87,334.35	\$90,784.40	\$91,018.85	\$93,607.45	\$96,036.91	\$97,920.01	\$99,878.43
12			\$96,223.63	\$98,978.79	\$99,494.38	\$101,765.77	\$103,800.58 \$109,579.30
13					\$104,985.60	\$107,429.92	\$109,579.50
FY2027	3.25%						
Step	[BA]	[BA+15]	[MA]	[MA+15]	MA+30	MA+45	MA+60
. 1							
2							
3	\$61,519.78	\$63,993.15	\$66,008.65	\$67,687.87	\$69,666.12	\$71,464.73	\$72,893.11
4	\$64,422.54	\$67,594.76	\$69,489.76	\$71,512.93	\$73,561.29	\$75,013.76	\$76,513.34
5	\$68,908.12	\$71,795.54	\$73,869.09	\$75,927.31	\$77,989.91	\$79,875.05	\$81,472.12
6	\$71,932.46	\$75,098.11	\$77,193.57	\$79,304.36	\$81,155.55	\$83,306.88	\$84,971.85
7	\$75,162.73	\$78,108.21	\$80,512.57	\$82,669.37	\$84,761.54	\$86,936.96	\$89,282.17
8	\$78,390.82	\$81,664.90	\$84,227.00	\$86,009.18	\$88,388.34	\$90,375.36	\$92,182.74
9	\$81,197.18	\$84,941.18	\$87,570.09	\$89,563.68	\$91,975.71	\$93,986.83	\$95,866.50
10	\$85,016.77	\$88,221.84	\$90,471.75	\$93,103.95	\$95,598.13	\$97,622.39	\$99,575.45
11	\$90,172.72	\$93,734.89	\$93,976.97	\$96,649.69	\$99,158.11	\$101,102.41	\$103,124.48
12	\$91,074.44	\$94,672.24	\$99,350.90	\$102,195.60	\$102,727.95	\$105,073.16	\$107,174.10
13			\$100,344.41	\$103,217.55	\$108,397.64	\$110,921.39	\$113,140.63
14					\$109,481.61	\$112,030.60	\$114,272.03

Appendix B – Athletic Salary Schedule

Nipmuc Regional High School

	1		FY25			FY26			FY27	1
Women Varsity/Head Coach			3.00%			3.00%			3.25%	
	(Steps)	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3
Basketball		\$4,228	\$5,242	\$6,424	\$4,355	\$5,399	\$6,617	\$4,486	\$5,561	\$6,815
Cheerleading - *2 season Varsity			\$4,864			\$5,010			\$5,160	
Cross Country		\$4,228	\$5,242	\$6,424	\$4,355	\$5,399	\$6,617	\$4,486	\$5,561	\$6,815
Field Hockey		\$4,228	\$5,242	\$6,424	\$4,355	\$5,399	\$6,617	\$4,486	\$5,561	\$6,815
Girls Soccer		\$4,228	\$5,242	\$6,424	\$4,355	\$5,399	\$6,617	\$4,486	\$5,561	\$6,815
Girls Volleyball		\$4,228	\$5,242	\$6,424	\$4,355	\$5,399	\$6,617	\$4,486	\$5,561	\$6,815
Indoor Track		\$4,228	\$5,242	\$6,424	\$4,355	\$5,399	\$6,617	\$4,486	\$5,561	\$6,815
Lacrosse		\$4,228	\$5,242	\$6,424	\$4,355	\$5,399	\$6,617	\$4,486	\$5,561	\$6,815
Outdoor Track		\$4,228	\$5,242	\$6,424	\$4,355	\$5,399	\$6,617	\$4,486	\$5,561	\$6,815
Softball		\$4,228	\$5,242	\$6,424	\$4,355	\$5,399	\$6,617	\$4,486	\$5,561	\$6,815
Women Junior Varsity/Freshmen Coac	hes									
-	(Steps)	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3
Basketball		\$3,214	\$4,061	\$5,074	\$3,310	\$4,183	\$5,226	\$3,409	\$4,309	\$5,383
Cheerleading - *2 season JV			\$3,196			\$3,292			\$3,391	
Field Hockey		\$3,214	\$4,061	\$5,074	\$3,310	\$4,183	\$5,226	\$3,409	\$4,309	\$5,383
Freshman Basketball		\$3,214	\$4,061	\$5,074	\$3,310	\$4,183	\$5,226	\$3,409	\$4,309	\$5,383
Girls Soccer		\$3,214	\$4,061	\$5,074	\$3,310	\$4,183	\$5,226	\$3,409	\$4,309	\$5,383
Girls Volleyball		\$3,214	\$4,061	\$5,074	\$3,310	\$4,183	\$5,226	\$3,409	\$4,309	\$5,383
Lacrosse		\$3,214	\$4,061	\$5,074	\$3,310	\$4,183	\$5,226	\$3,409	\$4,309	\$5,383
Softball		\$3,214	\$4,061	\$5,074	\$3,310	\$4,183	\$5,226	\$3,409	\$4,309	\$5,383
Women Assistant Coaches										
	(Steps)	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3
Outdoor track	(/	\$3,214	\$4,061	\$5,074	\$3,310	\$4,183	\$5,226	\$3,409	\$4,309	\$5,383
Men Varsity/Head Coach										
,,,	(Steps)	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3
Basketball	(01000)	\$4,228	\$5,242	\$6,424	\$4,355	\$5,399	\$6,617	\$4,486	\$5,561	\$6,815
Boys Soccer		\$4,228	\$5,242	\$6,424	\$4,355	\$5,399	\$6,617	\$4,486	\$5,561	\$6,815
Boys Volleyball		\$4,228	\$5,242	\$6,424	\$4,355	\$5,399	\$6,617	\$4,486	\$5,561	\$6,815
Cross Country		\$4,228	\$5,242	\$6,424	\$4,355	\$5,399	\$6,617	\$4,486	\$5,561	\$6,815
Football		\$4,228	\$5,242	\$6,424	\$4,355	\$5,399	\$6,617	\$4,486	\$5,561	\$6,815
Indoor Track		\$4,228	\$5,242	\$6,424	\$4,355	\$5,399	\$6,617	\$4,486	\$5,561	\$6,815
Lacrosse		\$4,228	\$5,242	\$6,424	\$4,355	\$5,399	\$6,617	\$4,486	\$5,561	\$6,815
Outdoor Track		\$4,228	\$5,242	\$6,424	\$4,355	\$5,399	\$6,617	\$4,486	\$5,561	\$6,815
Softball		\$4,228	\$5,242	\$6,424	\$4,355	\$5,399	\$6,617	\$4,486	\$5,561	\$6,815
		7 1,==0	7-7-1-	7 - 7 - 1	+ 1,222	+=,===	7 0/0 = 1	+ 1,100	70,000	7 5,5 2 5
Men Junior Varsity/Freshmen Coaches	(Steps)	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3
Baseball	(Stehs)	\$3,214	\$4,061	\$5,074	\$3,310	\$4,183	\$5,226	\$3,409	\$4,309	\$5,383
Basketball		\$3,214	\$4,061	\$5,074	\$3,310	\$4,183	\$5,226	\$3,409	\$4,309	\$5,383
Boys Soccer		\$3,214	\$4,061	\$5,074	\$3,310	\$4,183	\$5,226	\$3,409	\$4,309	\$5,383
Boys Volleyball		\$3,214	\$4,061	\$5,074	\$3,310	\$4,183	\$5,226	\$3,409	\$4,309	\$5,383
Football		\$3,214	\$4,061	\$5,074	\$3,310	\$4,183	\$5,226	\$3,409	\$4,309	\$5,383
Freshman Basketball		\$3,214	\$4,061	\$5,074	\$3,310	\$4,183	\$5,226	\$3,409	\$4,309	\$5,383
Lacrosse		\$3,214	\$4,061	\$5,074	\$3,310	\$4,183	\$5,226	\$3,409	\$4,309	\$5,383
Laciosse		73,214	Ş 4 ,001	75,074	73,310	у ч ,103	73,220	73,403	уч,303	73,363
Men Assistant Coaches	(Stone)	1	2	,	1	2	,	1	2	3
Football (3)	(Steps)	1 \$2.21/	2 \$4.061	3 \$5.074	1 \$2.210		3 \$5,226	1 \$3,409	2 \$4.200	
Football (3) Outdoor Track		\$3,214 \$3,214	\$4,061 \$4,061	\$5,074 \$5,074	\$3,310 \$3,310	\$4,183 \$4,183	\$5,226 \$5,226	\$3,409 \$3,409	\$4,309 \$4,309	\$5,383
OULUOUI ITALK		<i>\$</i> 3,214	<i>></i> 4,∪01	35, 074	33,31 0	у4,1 03	<i>3</i> 3,220	33,409	э4, 503	\$5,383
Co-Ed Varsity/Head Coach	(Stone)	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3
Golf	(Steps)	\$4,228	\$ \$5,242	\$6,424	\$4,355	2 \$5,399	\$6,617	1 \$4,486	\$5,561	\$6,815
Ice Hockey		\$4,228 \$4,228	\$5,242 \$5,242	\$6,424	\$4,355 \$4,355	\$5,399 \$5,399	\$6,617	\$4,486 \$4,486	\$5,561	\$6,815
ice Hockey	ļ	, 7,∠∠0	→ → → → → → → → → → → → → → → → → → →	70,424	,∙-,∪∪	ووو,وپ	70,017	γ - ,400	73,301	70,013

			FY25			FY26			FY27	
Ski		\$4,228	\$5,242	\$6,424	\$4,355	\$5,399	\$6,617	\$4,486	\$5,561	\$6,815
Co-Ed Junior Varsity Coaches										
Ice Hockey	(Steps)	1 \$3,214	2 \$4,061	3 \$5,074	1 \$3,310	2 \$4,183	3 \$5,226	1 \$3,409	2 \$4,309	3 \$5,383
Co-Ed Assistant Coaches										
	(Steps)	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3
Cross Country		\$3,214	\$4,061	\$5,074	\$3,310	\$4,183	\$5,226	\$3,409	\$4,309	\$5,383
Golf		\$3,214	\$4,061	\$5,074	\$3,310	\$4,183	\$5,226	\$3,409	\$4,309	\$5,383
Indoor Track		\$3,214	\$4,061	\$5,074	\$3,310	\$4,183	\$5,226	\$3,409	\$4,309	\$5,383
E-Sports				\$3,000			\$3,090			\$3,190
Strength and Conditioning				\$500			\$515			\$532
Athletic Trainer				\$15,713			\$16,184			\$16,670
	(Steps)	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3
Athletic Director	(\$8,454	\$10,567	\$13,282	\$8,708	\$10,884	\$13,680	\$8,969	\$11,210	\$14,091

Miscoe Hill School FY27 FY25 FY26 3.00% 3.00% 3.25% Women 2 (Steps) 2 3 1 3 Basketball \$3,042 \$3,133 \$3,235 Field Hockey \$3,041 \$3,132 \$3,234 Soccer \$3,041 \$3,132 \$3,234 Softball \$3,041 \$3,132 \$3,234 Volleyball \$3,041 \$3,132 \$3,234 Men 2 (Steps) 1 2 3 1 3 Baseball \$3,041 \$3,132 \$3,234 Basketball \$3,041 \$3,132 \$3,234 Soccer \$3,041 \$3,132 \$3,234 Volleyball \$3,041 \$3,132 \$3,234 Co-Ed 2 2 (Steps) 1 3 1 3 Ass't C-country \$2,382 \$2,453 \$2,533 \$3,041 \$3,132 \$3,234 Cross country Outdoor track \$3,041 \$3,132 \$3,234 Ass't O-Track \$2,382 \$2,453 \$2,533 **MS Athletic Director** \$5,398 \$5,559 \$5,740

Appendix C - Extra duty Stipends

	FY2025 3.00%	FY2026 3.00%	FY2027 3.25%
<u>District-wide Stipends</u>	40.470	40.504	40.000
Health Coordinator	\$3,476	\$3,581	\$3,698
Web Master	\$4,120	\$4,244	\$4,382
Social Media Coordinator	\$4,120	\$4,244	\$4,382
Special Education Team Chairs	\$8,240	\$8,488	\$8,764
Supervising Educators	\$2,060	\$2,122	\$2,191
EL Coordinator	\$2,000	\$2,060	\$2,127
Related Services Providor Lead	\$1,000	\$1,030	\$1,064
District Specialist Department Heads			
Music - Pre-K - 12	\$3,476	\$3,581	\$3,698
Physical Education Pre-K - 12	\$3,476	\$3,581	\$3,698
Technology - Pre-K - 12	\$3,476	\$3,581	\$3,698
Visual Arts - Pre-K - 12	\$3,476	\$3,581	\$3,698
Facilities Use Coordinator			
Nipmuc	\$2,294	\$2,363	\$2,440
Miscoe	\$2,294	\$2,363	\$2,440
Clough	\$696	\$717	\$741
Memorial	\$696	\$717	\$741
Substitute Coordinators			
Nipmuc	\$5,500	\$5,665	\$5,850
Miscoe	\$5,500	\$5,665	\$5,850
Clough	\$5,500	\$5,665	\$5,850
Memorial	\$5,500	\$5,665	\$5,850
Nipmuc Regional High School			
HS Department Chairs			
Electives	\$6,947	\$7,156	\$7,389
English	\$6,947	\$7,156	\$7,389
Math	\$6,947	\$7,156	\$7,389
Science	\$6,947	\$7,156	\$7,389
Social Studies	\$6,947	\$7,156	\$7,389
Special Education	\$6,947	\$7,156	\$7,389
World Languages	\$6,947	\$7,156	\$7,389
Extra Duty Stipends			
Advanced Placement Coordinator	\$1,390	\$1,432	\$1,479
Best Buddies Advisor	\$850	\$876	\$905
Class Advisors - Freshman	\$1,390	\$1,432	\$1,479
Class Advisors - Juniors	\$3,058	\$3,150	\$3,253
Class Advisors - Seniors	\$3,613	\$3,722	\$3,843
Class Advisors - Sophomores	\$1,390	\$1,432	\$1,479
DECA	\$2,780	\$2,864	\$2,958
Director of High School Band	\$4,724	\$4,866	\$5,025
Director of High School Chorus	\$4,724	\$4,866	\$5,025
Drama Coach	\$3,476	\$3,581	\$3,698
Drama Music Director	\$2,301	\$2,371	\$2,449
Drama Production Assistant	\$800	\$824	\$851
Esports Coaching	\$3,239	\$3,337	\$3,446
GSA Club Advisor	\$800	\$824	\$851
High School 504 Coordinator	\$1,500	\$1,545	\$1,596
Jazz Band	\$2,362	\$2,433	\$2,513
Jazz Choir	\$2,316	\$2,386	\$2,464
Model UN Advisor	\$1,000	\$1,030	\$1,064
National Honor Society Advisor	\$1,945	\$2,004	\$2,070
Newspaper Advisor	\$1,566	\$1,613	\$1,666
Peer Ed Advisors	\$1,435	\$1,479	\$1,528

Appendix C - Extra duty Stipends

	FY2025 3.00%	FY2026 3.00%	FY2027 3.25%
Peer Tutoring/Homework (MOM)	\$4,864	\$5,010	\$5,173
Pep Band	\$1,084	\$1,117	\$1,154
PSAT Coordinator	\$696	\$717	\$741
SADD Advisor	\$1,390	\$1,432	\$1,479
Scholarship Coordinator	\$1,348	\$1,389	\$1,435
Ski Club Advisor	\$800	\$824	\$851
Student Council Advisor 9-12	\$4,500	\$4,635	\$4,786
Student Services Disability Coordinator	\$1,390	\$1,432	\$1,479
Threshold Advisor	\$1,566	\$1,613	\$1,666
Ultimate Frisbee	\$1,390	\$1,432	\$1,479
Work Study Coordinator	\$1,390	\$1,432	\$1,479
Yearbook Advisor	\$4,030	\$4,151	\$4,286
Spanish Exchange Homestay Coordinator	\$2,500	\$2,575	\$2,659
Spanish Exchange Travel Coordinator	\$2,000	\$2,060	\$2,127
Miscoe Hill Middle School			
Middle School Department Chairs			
English	\$6,947	\$7,156	\$7,389
Math	\$6,947	\$7,156	\$7,389
Science	\$6,947	\$7,156	\$7,389
Social Studies	\$6,947	\$7,156	\$7,389
Spanish Immersion Coordinator K-8	\$3,476	\$3,581	\$3,698
Sped PK-8	\$3,307	\$3,407	\$3,518
Extra Duty Stipends			
A'Capella	\$2,316	\$2,386	\$2,464
Art Club 5/6	\$1,654	\$1,704	\$1,760
Art Club 7/8	\$1,654	\$1,704	\$1,760
Best Buddies Advisor	\$850 \$1,738	\$876 \$1,791	\$905 \$1,850
Destination Imagination Director of Band (5-6)	\$1,736 \$1,063	\$1,791 \$1,095	\$1,030
Director of Band (7-8)	\$2,362	\$2,433	\$2,513
Director of Chorus (5-8)	\$2,362 \$2,362	\$2,433	\$2,513
Jazz Band	\$2,362	\$2,433	\$2,513
Middle School Drama Coach	\$3,307	\$3,407	\$3,518
Middle School Drama Coach Asst.	\$2,301	\$2,371	\$2,449
Middle School Drama Music Director	\$1,957	\$2,016	\$2,082
Middle School Drama Dance Coordinator	\$500	\$515	\$532
Miscoe 504 Coordinator	\$1,500	\$1,545	\$1,596
Miscoe Student Mentoring	\$1,390	\$1,432	\$1,479
Miscoe Yearbook Advisor	\$2,426	\$2,499	\$2,581
National Junior Honor Society	\$1,906	\$1,964	\$2,028
Nature's Classroom (per day)	\$200	\$206	\$213
Nature's Classroom Coordinator	\$1,200	\$1,236	\$1,277
Newspaper	\$1,567	\$1,615	\$1,668
Peer Tutoring/Homework (MOM)	\$4,864	\$5,010	\$5,173
Scheduling Coordinator	\$3,307	\$3,407	\$3,518
Scheduling Coordinator PK-8	\$3,307	\$3,407	\$3,518
Student Council Advisor	\$4,500	\$4,635	\$4,786
Elementary Stipends			
Curriculum Asst. Pre-K - 4			
English	\$3,307	\$3,407	\$3,518
Math	\$3,307	\$3,407	\$3,518
Science	\$3,307	\$3,407	\$3,518
Social Studies	\$3,307	\$3,407	\$3,518
Pre-K Coordinator	\$3,752	\$3,865	\$3,991

Appendix C - Extra duty Stipends

	FY2025 3.00%	FY2026 3.00%	FY2027 3.25%
Extra Duty Stipends			
Elementary Yearbook Coordinator	\$1,213	\$1,250	\$1,291
Newspaper Advisor	\$617	\$636	\$657
Elementary 504 Coordinator (one per school)	\$1,500	\$1,545	\$1,596
Clough Garden Manager	\$500	\$515	\$532
Grade 4 Chorus (one per school)	\$400	\$412	\$426
Head Teacher (per school)	\$2,000	\$2,060	\$2,127
Mentor Program			
Lead Mentor	\$2,060	\$2,122	\$2,186
Level 1 Mentor (New less that 3 years)	\$876	\$903	\$931
Level 2 Mentor (2nd year new teachers)	\$670	\$691	\$712
Level 3 Mentor (3rd year new teachers) grade level change new to district with 4+ years experience	\$515	\$531	\$547
Co-teaching Mentor	\$1,030	\$1,061	\$1,093
<u>Enrichment</u>			
District Enrichment Director	\$3,032	\$3,123	\$3,225
Miscoe Enrichment Coordinator	\$2,646	\$2,726	\$2,815
Clough Enrichment Coordinator	\$2,646	\$2,726	\$2,815
Memorial Enrichment Coordinator	\$2,646	\$2,726	\$2,815
Enrichment Coach (per session)	\$515/session	\$530/session	\$547/session

Appendix A: Teachers' Salary Schedule

COLA (see attached salary table):

FY25: 3.00% FY26: 3.00% FY27: 3.25%

Drop Step 1 and Step 2 as of July 1, 2024. Anyone who would have occupied Step 2 as of July 1, 2024, will progress to Step 3.

Add a top Step that is 1.0% higher than the current top Step starting in year three (3) of the contract.

As of July 1, 2024, the Bachelor's +15 lane shall be removed. However, for those unit members who occupied such lanes as of June 30, 2024, they shall remain there until the progress to the next lane and that lane will be subject to the same COLA until it can be removed from the contract entirely.

Appendix B: Athletic Salary Schedule

See attached

Appendix C: District-wide Stipends

Members shall be able to propose new stipend positions for clubs, student interest groups, and other similar activities to the building principals.

An application form, submitted to the building principal, must be completed by a member and/or student representative outlining the description of the group, the responsibilities of the advisor, and the approximate number of hours. Each application will be reviewed by the building principal and a decision will be made within twenty-one (21) days, based on available funds.

All stipends remain and will receive the approved COLA

The parties shall form a stipend committee, composed of the Negotiations Chair (or designee) plus three (3) Association representatives making every effort to have representation from each building, and four (4) Committee representatives designated by the Superintendent, and such stipend subcommittee shall meet at regular intervals during the 2024-2025 school year to study Appendix B and Appendix C stipends. The stipend committee shall consider:

• Whether the current stipend amounts are equitable relative to one another, considering such factors as the relative time commitments and student enrollment and interest associated with each position.

- Potential reorganizations, consolidation, addition or deletion of co-curricular positions
- Equitable distribution of stipend amounts among the existing co-curricular positions

The stipend committee shall submit recommendations to the parties for bargaining no later than March 1, 2025 with respect to any amendments to Appendix B and Appendix C.

See attached

Appendix D: Course Reimbursement

Course Reimbursement

- 1. Staff members must complete the Course Reimbursement Form.
- 2. Staff members will be entitled to reimbursement of \$750 per year.
- 3. Course must have prior approval by the building principal and must align with the district goals or curriculum frameworks. (Staff members must indicate whether the course is being taken during the summer, fall or spring semester.)
- 4. A grade of B or better must be submitted for course reimbursement.
- 5. Total district cost will not exceed \$30,000 per year.

Appendix E: Longevity

A. Qualifications

Annual longevity payments will be as follows:

After 15 years of service: \$800 After 20 years of service: \$1,100 After 25 years of service: \$1,400 After 30 years of service: \$1,700

Memorandum of Understanding

A. General Principles

The Mendon-Upton Regional School District and Mendon-Upton Regional Teachers Association have negotiated the impact of newly implemented State Regulations relative to Time and Learning. These regulations require an increase in instructional time provided to students. In some instances, the regulations also require an increase in the length of the school day for students and teachers. It should be noted that decisions to limit teacher duties will be at the discretion of the Building Principal who will take into consideration student welfare, safety concerns, scheduling needs, student population, teacher absenteeism, the available number of professional staff, and the number of daily activities requiring duties and/or emergency situations.

B. High School

- 1. All teachers (9-12) shall report to their assigned classroom for student arrival and the school day will not exceed seven (7) hours in length, commencing at 7:20 am.
- 2. All regular classroom teachers and specialists shall be provided with an equitable number of flex periods which shall be scheduled during the first or last period of the day at which time they shall not be required to be in their specific buildings. Additional flex time may be granted based on the availability of duties.
- 3. All regular classroom teachers and specialists may leave their respective buildings when students are dismissed except when required to attend afternoon activities in accordance with the provisions of Article 7, Teaching Hours and Load, Section 7.8 and 7.9.

C. Middle School

All full time-non-traveling Unit A members at Miscoe will be assigned duties on an equitable basis (with the exception of teachers of substantially separate classrooms.)

- 1. All teachers (5-8) shall report to their assigned classroom for student arrival at 7:55 am. The school day will end with the dismissal of students at 2:40 pm and the teacher workday will conclude at 2:50 pm.
- 2. All regular classroom teachers and specialists shall be provided with an equitable number of flex periods which shall be scheduled during the first or last period of the day at which time they shall not be required to be in their specific buildings. Additional flex time may be granted based on the availability of duties.
- 3. All regular classroom teachers and specialists may leave their respective buildings when students are dismissed except when required to attend afternoon activities in accordance with the provisions of Article 7, Teaching Hours and Load, Section 7.8 and 7.9.

4. For the start of the 2021-22 school year, the Miscoe Hill Middle School will follow this proposed schedule. A Joint Labor Management Team composed of Miscoe staff and administration shall convene no later than October 1, 2021, to assess the schedule's efficacy, and if necessary, recommend changes subject to collective bargaining.

Miscoe Hill's Schedule

Block	5th Grade	6th Grade	7th Grade	8th Grade	
Homeroom 7:55 - 8:10 (15)					
1st Block 8:10 - 9:07	Class (57)	Class (57)	Class (57)	Class (57)	
2nd Block 9:07 - 10:04	Class (57)	Class (57)	Class (57)	Class (57)	
3rd Block 10:04 - 11:01	Class (57)	Class (57)	Class (57)	Class (57)	
4th Block 11:01 - 12:46	Lunch: 11:01 - 11:26 (25) Recess: 11:26 - 11:51 (25) Class: 11:51 - 12:46 (55)	Recess: 11:01 - 11:26 (25) Lunch: 11:26 - 11:51 (25) Class: 11:51 - 12:46 (55)	Class: 11:01 - 11:56 (55) Lunch: 11:56 - 12:21 (25) Recess: 12:21 - 12:46 (25)	Class: 11:01 - 11:56 (55) Recess: 11:56 - 12:21 (25) Lunch: 12:21 - 12:46 (25)	
5th Block 12:46 - 1:43	Class (57)	Class (57)	Class (57)	Class (57)	
6th Block 1:43 - 2:40	Class (57)	Class (57)	Class (57)	Class (57)	
Dismissal 2:40 - 2:50 (10)					

D. Elementary School

- 1. All regular classroom teachers shall report to their assigned workplace at 8:40 am except when they are on corridor duty, which shall be assigned on an equitably rotating basis. Students will also report to their classroom at 8:45 am.
- 2. One (1) teacher/specialist or an aide shall be assigned hallway duty each day between 8:40-8:55 am.
- 3. 8:45-9:00 am classroom opening exercises.
- 4. 9:00 am instruction begins.
- 5. Regular classroom teachers will be assigned to one (1) outside recess duty per

week. If additional coverage is required, it will be assigned on an equitably rotating basis.

- 6. Regular classroom teachers will not be assigned to cafeteria duty.
- 7. Every effort will be made to assign specialists only to two (2) such duties; if duty assignments require more than two assignments per week, but in no case more than three (3), it will be accomplished on an equitably rotating basis.
- 8. All regular classroom teachers and specialists shall be provided with an equitable number of flex periods which shall be scheduled during the first or last period of the day at which time they shall not be required to be in their specific buildings. Flex time will be granted as long as there is appropriate student coverage and does not diminish the classroom. teacher/student instructional time. The Principal will make every attempt to ensure staff's flex release time. Staff members are required to attend all staff meetings. Teachers who are unable to attend a staff meeting on a scheduled flex-day will notify their building principal.
- 9. All regular classroom teachers and specialists may leave their respective buildings when students are dismissed except in accordance with the provisions of Article 7, Teaching Hours and Load, Section 7.8 and 7.9.

E. Staff Meetings

Staff members at all levels are required to attend the monthly staff meetings, regardless if their flex time falls contiguous to a scheduled staff meeting before or after the school day.

Appendix G: Staff Evaluations

Mendon-Upton Regional School Committee and Mendon-Upton Regional Teachers Association

Educator Evaluation
Memorandum of Agreement

This Agreement is made and entered into by and between the Mendon-Upton Regional Teachers Association (Association) and the Mendon-Upton Regional School Committee (Committee). This Memorandum of Agreement amends the collective bargaining agreement which was in effect from July 2021 through June 2024. Where said collective bargaining agreement is not amended, modified or revised by this Memorandum of Agreement, then such provisions shall remain in full force and effect for the duration of the collective bargaining agreement. Now, therefore the parties hereby agree as follows:

Table of Contents

- (1) Purpose of Educator Evaluation
- (2) Definitions
- (3) Evidence Used in Evaluation
- (4) Rubric
- (5) Evaluation Cycle: Training
- (6) Evaluation Cycle: Annual Orientation
- (7) Evaluation Cycle: Self-Assessment
- (8) Evaluation Cycle: Goal Setting and Educator Plan Development
- (9) Evaluation Cycle: Observation of Practice and Examination of Artifacts Educators without PTS (10) Evaluation Cycle: Observation of Practice and

Examination of Artifacts – Educators with PTS (11) Observations

- (12) Evaluation Cycle: Formative Assessment
- (13) Evaluation Cycle: Formative Evaluation for Two-Year Self-Directed Plans Only
- (14) Evaluation Cycle: Summative Evaluation
- (15) Educator Plans: General
- (16) Educator Plans: Developing Educator Plan
- (17) Educator Plans: Self-Directed Growth Plan
- (18) Educator Plans: Directed Growth Plan
- (19) Educator Plans: Improvement Plan
- (20) Timelines
- (21) Career Advancement
- (22) Rating Impact on Student Learning Growth
- (23) Using Student feedback in Educator Evaluation
- (24) Using Staff feedback in Educator Evaluation
- (25) Transition from Existing Evaluation System
- (26) General Provisions

Article 1) Purpose of Educator Evaluation

A) This contract language is locally negotiated and based on M.G.L., c.71, § 38; M.G.L. c.150E; the Educator Evaluation regulations, 603 CMR 35.00 et seq.; and the Model System for Educator Evaluation developed and which may be updated from time to time by the Department of Elementary and Secondary Education. See 603 CMR 35.02 (definition of model system). In the event of a conflict between this collective bargaining agreement and the governing laws and regulations, the laws and regulations will prevail.

B) The regulatory purposes of evaluation are:

- i) To promote student learning, growth, and achievement by providing Educators with feedback for improvement, enhanced opportunities for professional growth, and clear structures for accountability, 603 CMR 35.01(2)(a);
- ii) To provide a record of facts and assessments for personnel decisions, 35.01(2)(b);
- iii) To ensure that every school committee has a system to enhance the professionalism and accountability of teachers and administrators that will

enable them to assist all students to perform at high levels, 35.01(3); and iv) To support and promote teacher excellence and improvement through collaboration, mentoring, and professional development.

Article 2) Definitions (* indicates definition is generally based on 603 CMR 35.02)

- A) *Artifacts of Professional Practice: Products of an Educator's work and student work samples that demonstrate the Educator's knowledge and skills with respect to specific performance standards.
- B) Caseload Educator: Educators who teach or counsel individual or small groups of students through consultation with the regular classroom teacher, for example, school nurses, guidance counselors, speech and language pathologists, occupational therapists, physical therapists, adaptive physical education teachers, and some reading specialists and special education teachers.
- C) Classroom teacher: Educators who teach preK-12 whole classes, and teachers of special subjects such as art, music, library, and physical education. May also include special education teachers and reading specialists who teach whole classes.
- D) Committee Definition- Educator Evaluation Sub-Committee: The Educator Evaluation Sub-committee will be convened at least annually and will include MURTA members and administration. The MURTA members will be representative of various content and grade levels. Administrators and members will work together to ensure that the Educator Evaluation process is conducted according to Article 1) of this document.
- E) Categories of Evidence: Multiple measures of student learning, growth, and achievement, judgments based on observations and artifacts of professional practice, including unannounced observations of practice of a minimum of 10 minutes to a maximum of one class period or lesson; and additional evidence relevant to one or more Standards of Effective Teaching Practice (603 CMR 35.03).
- F) *District-determined Measures: Measures of student learning, growth and achievement related to the Massachusetts Curriculum Frameworks, Massachusetts Vocational Technical Education Frameworks, or other relevant frameworks, that are comparable across grade or subject level district-wide. These measures may include, but shall not be limited to: portfolios, approved commercial assessments and district developed pre and post unit and course assessments, and capstone projects.
- G) *Educator(s): Inclusive term that applies to all classroom teachers and caseload educators, unless otherwise noted.
- H) *Educator Plan: The growth or improvement actions identified as part of each Educator's evaluation. The type of plan is determined by the Educator's career

stage, overall performance rating, and the rating of impact on student learning, growth and achievement. There shall be four (4) types of Educator Plans:

- i) Developing Educator Plan shall mean a plan developed by the Educator and the Evaluator for one school year or less for an Educator without Professional Teacher Status (PTS); or, at the discretion of an Evaluator, for an Educator with PTS in a new assignment.
- ii) Self-Directed Growth Plan shall mean a plan developed by the Educator for one (1) or two (2) school years for Educators with PTS who are rated proficient or exemplary.
- iii) Directed Growth Plan shall mean a plan developed by the Educator and the Evaluator of one (1) school year or less for Educators with PTS who are rated needs improvement.
- iv) Improvement Plan shall mean a plan developed by the Evaluator of at least thirty (30) calendar days and no more than one (1) school year for Educators with PTS who are rated unsatisfactory with goals specific to improving the Educator's unsatisfactory performance. In those cases where an Educator is rated unsatisfactory near the close of a school year, the plan may include activities during the summer preceding the next school year.
- I) *ESE: The Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education.
- J) *Evaluation: The ongoing process of defining goals and identifying, gathering, and using information as part of a process to improve professional performance (the "formative evaluation" and "formative assessment") and to assess total job effectiveness and make personnel decisions (the "summative evaluation").
- K) *Evaluator: Any person designated by a superintendent who has primary or supervisory responsibility for observation and evaluation. The superintendent is responsible for ensuring that all Evaluators have training in the principles of supervision and evaluation. Each Educator will have one primary Evaluator at any one time responsible for determining performance ratings.
 - i) Primary Evaluator shall be the person who determines the Educator's performance ratings and evaluation. These individuals conduct all beginning of cycle, mid-cycle, and end-of-cycle meetings with the Educator.
 - ii) Secondary Evaluator shall be an administrator who may conduct classroom walkthroughs which provide evidence toward an Educator's evaluation, but does not conduct any beginning of cycle, mid-cycle, or end-of-cycle meetings with the Educator.
 - iii) Supervising Educator shall assist the primary evaluator and educator in developing the Educator Plan, supervising the Educator's progress through formative assessments, guiding the Educator's progress toward attaining the Educator Plan goals, and offering focused insight about the Educator Plan.
 - iv) Teaching Staff Assigned to More Than One (1) Building: Each Educator who is assigned to more than one (1) building will be evaluated

by the appropriate administrator where the individual is assigned most of the time. The principal of each building in which the Educator serves must review and sign the evaluation and may add written comments. In cases where the teaching assignment is a 50/50 split, the evaluation will be a shared responsibility among the Evaluators.

- v) Notification: The Educator shall be notified in writing of their primary Evaluator and supervising Evaluator, if any, at the outset of each new evaluation cycle. The Evaluator(s) may be changed upon notification in writing to the Educator.
- L) Evaluation Cycle: A five-component process that all Educators follow consisting of 1) Self-Assessment; 2) Goal-setting and Educator Plan development; 3) Implementation of the Plan; 4) Formative Assessment/Evaluation; and 5) Summative Evaluation.
- M) *Experienced Educator: An educator with Professional Teacher Status (PTS).
- N) *Family: Includes students' parents, legal guardians, foster parents, or primary caregivers.
- O) Feedback: information given to the Educator about the Educator's performance relative to student learning and professional practice goals as well as all professional practice standards. It can be about the output of the activity, the process of the activity, the Educator's management of their teaching or some other relevant area. Feedback should refocus the Educator's actions in order to achieve their goals or outcomes.
- P) *Formative Assessment: The process used to assess progress towards attaining goals set forth in Educator plans, performance on standards, or both. This process may take place at any time(s) during the cycle of evaluation, but typically takes place at mid-cycle.
- Q) *Formative Evaluation: An evaluation conducted at the end of Year 1 for an Educator on a 2-year Self Directed Growth plan which is used to arrive at a rating on progress towards attaining the goals set forth in the Educator Plan, performance on Standards and Indicators of Effective Teaching Practice, or both.
- R) *Goal: A specific, actionable, and measurable area of improvement as set forth in an Educator's plan. A goal may pertain to any or all of the following: Educator practice in relation to Performance Standards, Educator practice in relation to indicators, or specified improvement in student learning, growth and achievement. Goals may be developed by individual Educators, by the Evaluator, or by teams, departments, or groups of Educators who have the same role.
- S) *Measurable: That which can be classified or estimated in relation to a scale, rubric, or standards.
- T) Multiple Measures of Student Learning: Measures must include a combination of classroom, school and district assessments, student growth percentiles on state

assessments, if state assessments are available, portfolios and student MEPA gain scores. This definition may be revised as required by regulations or agreement of the parties upon issuance of ESE guidance.

- U) *Observation: A data gathering process that includes notes and judgments made during one (1) or more classroom or worksite visits(s) of any duration by the Evaluator and may include examination of artifacts of practice including student work. An observation may occur in person or through video. Video observations will be done openly but only by the request and with the consent of the Educator. The parties agree to bargain the protocols of video observations should any Educator wish to adopt such practice. Classroom or worksite observations conducted pursuant to this article must result in feedback to the Educator. Normal supervisory responsibilities of department, building and district administrators will also cause administrators to drop in on classes and other activities in the worksite at various times as deemed necessary by the administrator. Carrying out these supervisory responsibilities, when they do not result in targeted and constructive feedback to the Educator, are not observations as defined in this Article. Information included in a walk-through observation report/write up should contain only what was observed in that period of time during which the Evaluator was observing the Educator.
- V) Parties: The parties to this agreement are the local school committee and the employee organization that represents the Educators covered by this agreement for purposes of collective bargaining ("Employee Organization/Association").
- W) *Performance Rating: Describes the Educator's performance on each performance standard and overall. There shall be four (4) performance ratings:
 - § Exemplary: The Educator's performance consistently and significantly exceeds the requirements of a standard or overall. The rating of exemplary on a standard indicates that practice significantly exceeds proficient and could serve as a model of practice on that standard district-wide.
 - § Proficient: The Educator's performance fully and consistently meets the requirements of a standard or overall. Proficient practice is understood to be fully satisfactory.
 - § Needs Improvement: The Educator's performance on a standard or overall is below the requirements of a standard or overall, but is not considered to be unsatisfactory at this time. Improvement is necessary and expected.
 - § Unsatisfactory: The Educator's performance on a standard or overall has not significantly improved following a rating of needs improvement, or the Educator's performance is consistently below the requirements of a standard or overall and is considered inadequate, or both.
- X) *Professional Teacher Status: PTS is the status granted to an Educator pursuant to M.G.L. c71, § 41.
- Y) Rating of Educator Impact on Student Learning: A rating of high, moderate or low based on trends and patterns on state assessments and district-determined measures and benchmark tasks. The parties will negotiate the process for using state

and district-determined measures to arrive at an Educator's rating of impact on student learning, growth and achievement, using guidance and model contract language from ESE.

- Z) Rating of Overall Educator Performance: The Educator's overall performance rating is based on the Evaluator's professional judgment and examination of evidence of the Educator's performance against the four Performance Standards and the Educator's attainment of goals set forth in the Educator Plan, as follows:
 - i) Standard 1: Curriculum, Planning and Assessment
 - ii) Standard 2: Teaching All Students
 - iii) Standard 3: Family and Community Engagement
 - iv) Standard 4: Professional Culture
 - v) Attainment of Professional Practice Goal(s)
 - vi) Attainment of Student Learning Goal(s)
 - AA) *Rubric: A scoring tool that describes characteristics of practice or artifacts at different levels of performance. The rubrics for Standards and Indicators of Effective Teaching Practice are used to rate Educators on Performance Standards, these rubrics consists of:
 - i) Standards: Describes broad categories of professional practice, including those required in 603 CMR 35.03
 - ii) Indicators: Describes aspects of each standard, including those required in 603 CMR 35.03 8
 - iii) Elements: Defines the individual components under each indicator
 - iv) Descriptors: Describes practice at four levels of performance for each element
 - v) *Performance Standards: Locally developed standards and indicators pursuant to M.G.L. c. 71, § 38 and consistent with, and supplemental to 603 CMR 35.00. The parties may agree to limit standards and indicators to those set forth in 603 CMR 35.03.
 - BB) *Summative Evaluation: An evaluation used to arrive at a rating on each standard, an overall rating, and as a basis to make personnel decisions. The summative evaluation includes the Evaluator's judgments of the Educator's performance against Performance Standards and the Educator's attainment of goals set forth in the Educator's Plan.
 - CC) *Superintendent: The person employed by the school committee pursuant to M.G.L. c. 71 §59 and §59A. The superintendent is responsible for the implementation of 603 CMR 35.00.
 - DD) *Teacher: An Educator employed in a position requiring a certificate or license as described in 603 CMR 7.04(3)(a, b, and d) and in the area of vocational education as provided in 603 CMR 4.00. Teachers may include, for example, classroom teachers, librarians, guidance counselors, or school nurses.
 - EE) *Trends in student learning: At least three (3) years of data from the district-determined measures and state assessments used in determining the Educator's rating on impact on student learning as high, moderate or low.

The following categories of evidence shall be used in evaluating each Educator:

- A) Multiple measures of student learning, growth, and achievement, which shall include:
 - i) Measures of student progress on common classroom assessments used for summative purposes that are aligned with the Massachusetts Curriculum Frameworks or other relevant frameworks and are comparable within grades or subjects in a school;
 - ii) At least two district-determined measures of student learning related to the Massachusetts Curriculum Frameworks or the Massachusetts Vocational Technical Education Frameworks or other relevant frameworks that are comparable across grades and/or subjects district-wide. One such measure shall be the MCAS Student Growth Percentile (SGP) or ACCESS for ELLs gain scores, if applicable, in which case at least three years of data is required. These measures may include: portfolios, approved commercial assessments and district-developed pre and post unit and course assessments, and capstone projects.
 - iii) Measures of student progress and/or achievement toward student learning goals set between the Educator and Evaluator for the school year or some other period of time established in the Educator Plan.
 - iv) For Educators whose primary role is not as a classroom teacher, the mutually agreed upon measures of the Educator's contribution to student learning, growth, and achievement set by the district. The measures set by the district should be based on the Educator's role and responsibility. B) Judgments based on observations and artifacts of practice including:
 - i) Unannounced observations of practice of at least 10 minutes.
 - ii) Announced observation(s) for non-PTS Educators in their first year of practice in a school, Educators on Improvement Plans, and as determined by the Evaluator.
 - iii) Examination of Educator work products with appropriate feedback within five (5) school days.
 - iv) Examination of student work samples with appropriate feedback within five school days. C) Evidence relevant to one or more Performance Standards, including but not limited to:
 - i) Evidence compiled and presented by the Educator, including:
 - (i) Evidence of fulfillment of professional responsibilities and growth such as self-assessments, peer collaboration, professional development linked to goals in the Educator plans, contributions to the school community and professional culture;
 - (ii) Evidence of active outreach to and engagement with families;
 - iii) Evidence of progress towards professional practice goal(s);
 - iv) Evidence of progress toward student learning outcomes goal(s).
 - v) Student feedback
 - vi) Any other relevant evidence from any source that the Evaluator shares with the Educator. Other relevant evidence could include information provided by other administrators such as the Superintendent.

A) The rubrics are a scoring tool used for the Educator's self-assessment, the formative assessment, the formative evaluation and the summative evaluation. The districts may use either the rubrics provided by DESE or comparably rigorous and comprehensive rubrics developed or adopted by the district and reviewed by DESE.

Article 5) Evaluation Cycle: Training

- A) Prior to the implementation of the new evaluation process contained in this article, districts shall arrange training for all Educators, principals, and other evaluators that outlines the components of the new evaluation process and provides an explanation of the evaluation cycle. The district through the superintendent shall determine the type and quality of training based on guidance provided by ESE.
- B) By November 1st of the first year of this agreement, all Educators shall complete a professional learning activity about self-assessment and goal-setting satisfactory to the superintendent or principal. Any Educator hired after the November 1st date, and who has not previously completed such an activity, shall complete such a professional learning activity about self-assessment and goal-setting within three months of the date of hire. The district, through the Superintendent shall determine the type and quality of the learning activity based on guidance provided by ESE.

Article 6) Evaluation Cycle: Annual Orientation

- A) At the start of each school year, the superintendent, principal or designee shall conduct a meeting for Educators and Evaluators focused substantially on educator evaluation. The superintendent, principal or designee shall:
 - i) Provide an overview of the evaluation process, including goal setting and the educator plans.
 - ii) Provide all Educators with directions for obtaining a copy of the forms used by the district. These may be electronically provided.
 - iii) Provide all Educators with the name and role of their Evaluator

Article 7) Evaluation Cycle: Self-Assessment

A) Completing the Self-Assessment

- i) The evaluation cycle begins with the Educator completing and submitting to the Primary or Supervising Evaluator a self-assessment by October 1st or within four (4) weeks of the start of their employment at the school.
- ii) The self-assessment includes:
 - (a) An analysis of evidence of student learning, growth and achievement for students under the Educator's responsibility.
 - (b) An assessment of practice against each of the four Performance Standards of effective practice using the district's rubric.
 - (c) Proposed goals to pursue: At least one goal directly related to improving the Educator's own professional practice. At least one

(1) goal directed related to improving student learning.

B) Proposing the goals

- i) Educators must consider goals for grade-level, subject-area, department teams, or other groups of Educators who share responsibility for student learning and results, except as provided in (ii) below. Educators may meet with teams to consider establishing team goals. Evaluators may participate in such meetings.
- ii) For Educators in their first year of practice, the Evaluator or their designee will meet with each Educator by September 15th (or within four (4) weeks of the Educator's first day of employment if the Educator begins employment after September 15th) to assist the Educator in completing the self-assessment and drafting the professional practice and student learning goals which must include induction and mentoring activities.
- iii) Unless the Evaluator indicates that an Educator in their second or third years of practice should continue to address induction and mentoring goals pursuant to 603 CMR 7.12, the Educator may address shared grade level or subject area team goals.
- iv) For Educators with PTS and ratings of proficient or exemplary, the goals may be team goals. In addition, these Educators may include individual professional practice goals that address enhancing skills that enable the Educator to share proficient practices with colleagues or develop leadership skills. Furthermore, and when appropriate, goals may be written for the duration of multiple school years with action steps outlined for the current year of the Educator Evaluation.
- v) For Educators with PTS and ratings of needs improvement or unsatisfactory, the professional practice goal(s) must address specific standards and indicators identified for improvement. In addition, the goals may address shared grade level or subject area team goals.

Article 8) Evaluation Cycle: Goal Setting and Development of the Educator Plan

- A) It is understood that the most effective way in which an Evaluator and Educator can work cooperatively toward improving professional practice and student learning is through the opportunity to meet regularly throughout the school year to collaborate and share their expertise.
- B) Every Educator has an Educator Plan that includes, but is not limited to, one goal related to the improvement of practice: one goal for the improvement of student learning. The Plan also outlines actions the Educator must take to attain the goals established in the Plan and benchmarks to assess progress. Goals may be developed by individual Educators, by the Evaluator, or by teams, departments, or groups of Educators who have similar roles and/or responsibilities. See Sections 15-19 for more on Educator Plans.
- C) To determine the goals to be included in the Educator Plan, the Evaluator reviews the goals the Educator has proposed in the Self-Assessment, using evidence of Educator performance and impact on student learning, growth and achievement based on the Educator's self-assessment and other sources that Evaluator shares with the Educator. The process for determining the Educator's impact on student learning, growth and achievement will be determined after ESE

issues guidance on this matter. See #22, below.

- D) Educator Plan Development Meetings shall be conducted as follows:
 - i) Educators in the same school may meet with the Evaluator in teams and/or individually at the end of the previous evaluation cycle or by October 15th of the next academic year to develop their Educator Plan. Educators shall not be expected to meet during the summer hiatus.
 - ii) For those Educators new to the school, the meeting with the Evaluator to establish the Educator Plan must occur by September 15th or within six weeks of the start of their assignment in that school
 - iii) The Evaluator shall meet individually with Educators with PTS and ratings of needs improvement or unsatisfactory to develop professional practice goal(s) that must address specific standards and indicators identified for improvement. In addition, the goals may address shared grade level or subject matter goals.
- E) The Evaluator completes the Educator Plan by November 1st. The Educator shall sign the Educator Plan within 5 school days of its receipt and may include a written response. The Educator's signature indicates that the Educator received the plan in a timely fashion. The signature does not indicate agreement or disagreement with its contents. The Evaluator retains final authority over the content of the Educator's Plan.
- F) Educators may request a meeting with the Evaluator to review progress on the Educator Plan at any time during the cycle.

Article 9) Evaluation Cycle: Observation of Practice and Examination of Artifacts – Educators without PTS

- A) In the first year of practice or first year assigned to a school:
 - i) The Educator shall have at least one (1) announced observation during the school year using the protocol described in section 11B, below.
 - ii) The Educator shall have at least three (3) unannounced observations that are appropriately spaced during the school year.
- B) In their second and third years of practice or second and third years as a non-PTS Educator in the school:
 - i) The Educator shall have at least three (3) unannounced observations that are appropriately spaced during the school year.

Article 10) Evaluation Cycle: Observation of Practice and Examination of Artifacts – Educators with PTS

- A) The Educator whose overall rating is proficient or exemplary must have at least one (1) unannounced observation per year. Educators may request additional unannounced observations as mutually agreed upon with the Evaluator.
- B) The Educator whose overall rating needs improvement must be observed according to the Directed Growth Plan during the period of Plan which must include at least two (2) unannounced observations.
- C) The Educator whose overall rating is unsatisfactory must be observed according to the Improvement Plan which must include both unannounced and announced observations that are appropriately space The number and frequency

of the observations shall be determined by the Evaluator, but in no case, for improvement plans of one (1) year, shall there be fewer than one (1) announced and four (4) unannounced observations. For Improvement Plans of six (6) months or fewer, there must be no fewer than one (1) announced and two (2) unannounced observations.

Article 11) Observations

- A) The Evaluator's first observation of the Educator on a one-year plan should take place by November 15th. Observations required by the Educator Plan should be completed by May 15th. The Evaluator may conduct additional observations after this date.
- B) The Evaluator is not required nor expected to review all the indicators in a rubric during an observation.
- C) Evaluator observations will occur at times within the school year and will not occur on days preceding or following holidays or school vacations. Additionally, observations will not be scheduled following a staff member's absence.
- D) Observations will be conducted openly and with the knowledge of the Educator (including Related Service Providers, Nurses, Guidance Counselors, etc)
- E) Every effort will be made to schedule a period of time sufficient for an Evaluator to observe as many indicators as possible.
- F) The minimum duration of any observation used for evaluative purposes is ten (10) minutes. If there is little opportunity to observe direct instruction, resulting in a negative observation write up, the Evaluator should conference with the Educator and schedule a follow-up observation within ten (10) school days.

G) Unannounced Observations

- i) Unannounced observations may be in the form of partial or full-period classroom visitations as deemed useful by the Evaluator, principal, superintendent or other administrator. If the unannounced observation is to be used for evaluative purposes, written feedback as described below will be provided.
- ii) The Educator will be provided with at least brief written feedback from the Evaluator within three (3) to five (5) school days of the observation. The written feedback shall be delivered to the Educator in person or electronically.
- iii) Any observation or series of observations resulting in significant concerns by the Evaluator for the first time must be followed by at least one (1) observation of at least thirty (30) minutes in duration within thirty (30) school days.

H) Announced Observations

- i) All non-PTS Educators in their first year in the school, PTS Educators on Improvement Plans and other educators at the discretion of the evaluator shall have at least one Announced Observation.
- ii) The Evaluator shall select the date and time of the lesson or activity to be observed and discuss with the Educator any specific goal(s) for the observation.
- iii) Within five (5) school days of the scheduled observation, upon request of either the Evaluator or Educator, the Evaluator and Educator shall meet for a pre-observation conference. In lieu of a meeting, the Educator may

inform the Evaluator in writing of the nature of the lesson, the student population served, and any other information that will assist the Evaluator to assess performance

- iv) The Educator shall provide the Evaluator a draft of the lesson using a mutually-agreed upon lesson plan format, student conference, IEP plan or activity. If the actual plan is different, the Educator will provide the Evaluator with a copy prior to the observation.
- v) The Educator will be notified as soon as possible if the Evaluator will not be able to attend the scheduled observation. The observation will be rescheduled with the Educator as soon as reasonably practical.
- vi) Within five (5) school days of the observation, the Evaluator and Educator shall meet for a post observation conference. This timeframe may be extended due to unavailability on the part of either the Evaluator or the Educator but shall be rescheduled within twenty-four (24) hours if possible.
- vii) The Evaluator shall provide the Educator with written feedback within five (5) school days of the post observation conference. For any standard where the Educator's practice was found to be unsatisfactory or needs improvement, the feedback must:
 - a) Describe the basis for the Evaluator's judgment
 - b) Describe actions the Educator should take to improve their performance
 - c) Identify support and/or resources the Educator may use in their improvement
 - d) State that the Educator is responsible for addressing the need for improvement

Article 12) Evaluation Cycle: Formative Assessment

- A) A specific purpose for evaluation is to promote student learning, growth and achievement by providing Educators with feedback for improvement. Evaluators are expected to make frequent unannounced visits to classrooms. Evaluators are expected to give targeted constructive feedback to Educators based on their observations of practice, examination of artifacts, and analysis of multiple measures of student learning, growth and achievement in relation to the Standards and Indicators of Effective Teaching Practice.
- B) Formative Assessment may be ongoing throughout the evaluation cycle but typically takes place mid cycle when a Formative Assessment report is completed. For an Educator on a two-year Self-Directed Growth Plan, the mid-cycle Formative Assessment report is replaced by the Formative Evaluation report at the end of year one. See section 13, below.
- C) The Formative Assessment report provides written feedback and ratings to the Educator about their progress towards attaining the goals set forth in the Educator Plan, performance on Performance Standards and overall, or both
- D) The Educator will submit evidence for the Formative Assessment meeting by January 15th.

- E) Upon the request of either the Evaluator or the Educator, the Evaluator and the Educator will meet either before or after completion of the Formative Assessment Report.
- F) The Evaluator shall complete the Formative Assessment report and provide a copy to the Educator. All Formative Assessment reports must be signed by the Evaluator and delivered face-to-face or electronically.
- G) The Educator may reply in writing to the Formative Assessment report within five (5) school days of receiving the report.
- H) The Educator shall sign the Formative Assessment report within five (5) school days of receiving the report. The signature indicates that the Educator received the Formative Assessment report in a timely fashion. The signature does not indicate agreement or disagreement with its contents.
- I) As a result of the Formative Assessment Report, the Evaluator may change the activities in the Educator Plan.
- J) If the rating in the Formative Assessment report differs from the last summative rating the Educator received, the Evaluator may place the Educator on a different Educator Plan, appropriate to the new rating.
- Article 13) Evaluation Cycle: Formative Evaluation for Two Year Self-Directed Plans Only.
 - A) Educators on two-year Self-Directed Growth Educator Plans receive a Formative Evaluation report near the end of the first year of the two year cycle.
 - B) The Formative Evaluation report provides written feedback and ratings to the Educator about their progress towards attaining the Educator's student learning and professional practice goals, and on each performance standard.
 - C) The Evaluator shall complete the Formative Evaluation report, sign it (on paper or electronically) and provide a copy to the Educator.
 - D) If requested, the Evaluator and the Educator may meet to discuss the Formative Evaluation Report.
 - E) The Educator shall sign for receipt of and respond to the Formative Evaluation report within five (5) school days of receiving the report. Signature does not indicate agreement or disagreement with its contents.
 - F) The Educator's performance rating for the year shall be assumed to be the same as the previous summative rating. However, if the rating in the Formative Evaluation report differs from the last summative rating the Educator received, the Evaluator may place the Educator on a different Educator Plan, appropriate to the new rating.

- A) The evaluation cycle concludes with a summative evaluation report.
- B) The Evaluator determines a rating on each standard and an overall rating based on the Evaluator's professional judgment, an examination of evidence pertaining to the Educator's student learning goals, professional practice goals and the four performance standards.
- C) If requested, the Evaluator and the Educator may meet to discuss the Summative Evaluation Report.
- D) The summative evaluation rating must be based on evidence from multiple categories of evidence. MCAS Growth scores shall not be the sole basis for a summative evaluation rating.
- E) To be rated proficient overall, the Educator shall, at a minimum, have been rated proficient on the Curriculum, Planning and Assessment and the Teaching All Students Standards of Effective Teaching Practice. For each standard, the predominant rating in each of the elements shall determine the rating for that standard. In the event that there is an equal number of ratings within a standard, the overall rating in the standard shall be the higher rating.
- F) The Summative Evaluation report should recognize areas of strength as well as identify recommendations for professional growth and provide feedback relative to student learning and professional practice goals and each performance standard.
- G) In the event that an Educator is rated as Needs Improvement or Unsatisfactory, the Educator and Evaluator will meet to discuss the Summative Evaluation report.
- H) In the event that an Educator is rated as proficient or exemplary, a meeting may be requested to discuss the summative evaluation.
- I) Upon mutual agreement, the Educator and the Evaluator may develop the Self-Directed Growth Plan for the following two (2) years during the meeting on the Summative Evaluation report.
- J) The Educator shall sign for receipt of and respond to the final Summative Evaluation report. Signature does not indicate agreement or disagreement with its contents.
- K) A copy of the signed final Summative Evaluation report shall be filed in the Educator's personnel file.

- A) Educator Plans shall be designed to provide Educators with feedback for improvement, professional growth, and leadership; and to ensure Educator effectiveness and overall system accountability. The Plan must be aligned to the standards and indicators and be consistent with district and school goals.
- B) The Educator Plan shall include, but is not limited to:
 - i) A Professional Practice Goal: This goal should relate to one or more Performance Standards. Team goals are not required but may serve as professional practice goals.
 - ii) A Student Learning Goal: This goal should relate to the improvement in the learning, growth and achievement of the students under the Educator's responsibility. Team goals are not required but may serve as student learning goals.
 - iii) An outline of actions the Educator must take to attain the goals and benchmarks to assess progress. Actions must include mutually agreed upon professional development and learning activities, as well as other support that may be suggested by the Evaluator or provided by the school or district. Examples may include but are not limited to coursework, self-study, action research, curriculum development, study groups with peers, and implementing new programs.
 - iv) The superintendent and building principals shall annually enumerate the district and school goals for the upcoming school year by September 1st.

Article 16) Educator Plans: Developing Educator Plan

- A) The Developing Educator Plan is for all Educators without PTS.
- B) The Educator shall be evaluated at least annually.

Article 17) Educator Plans: Self-Directed Growth Plan

- A) A two (2) year Self-Directed Growth Plan is for those Educators with PTS who have an overall rating of proficient or exemplary.
- B) The Evaluator shall apply professional judgment to the evidence to place the educator on a one (1) or two (2) year Self-Directed Growth Plan.

Article 18) Educator Plans: Directed Growth Plan

- A) A Directed Growth Plan is for those Educators with PTS whose overall rating is needs improvement.
- B) The goals in the Plan must address areas identified as needing improvement as determined by the Evaluator's documented, actionable feedback per walkthrough observation forms and artifacts. The Directed Growth Plan will be developed collaboratively by Educator and Evaluator and shall:
 - i) define the problem(s) of practice identified through observations, examination of artifacts, collaboration and evaluation
 - ii) detail the activities and work products that the Educator must complete/provide in order to improve

- C) An Educator on a Directed Growth Plan will be paired with a mutually agreed upon Supervising Educator for the duration of the Self-Directed Growth Plan.
- D) The Evaluator shall complete a summative evaluation for the Educator at the end of the period determined by the Plan.
- E) For an Educator on a Directed Growth Plan whose overall performance rating is at least proficient, the Educator will move to a one year Self-Directed Growth Plan for the next Evaluation Cycle.
- F) For an Educator on a Directed Growth Plan whose overall performance rating is not proficient the Evaluator will rate the Educator as unsatisfactory and the Educator will move to an Improvement Plan for the next Evaluation Cycle.

Article 19) Educator Plans: Improvement Plan

- A) An Improvement Plan is for those Educators with PTS whose overall rating is unsatisfactory.
- B) The length of an Improvement Plan will be no fewer than thirty (30) calendar days and no more than one school year. In the case of an Educator receiving a rating of unsatisfactory near the close of one school year, the Improvement Plan may provide opportunities, assignments and activities that are feasible for the Educator to occur during the summer before the next school year begins.
- C) The Evaluator must complete a summative evaluation for the Educator at the end of the period determined by the Evaluator for the Plan.
- D) An Educator on an Improvement Plan shall be assigned a mutually agreed upon Supervising Educator (see definitions). The Supervising Educator is responsible for providing the Educator with guidance and assistance in accessing the resources and professional development outlined in the Improvement Plan.
- E) Within ten (10) days of being placed on an Improvement Plan, the Evaluator and Educator shall schedule a meeting to discuss the details of the Improvement Plan. The Improvement Plan shall:
 - i) define the problem(s) of practice identified through observations, examination of artifacts, collaboration and evaluation
 - ii) detail the activities and work products that the Educator must complete/provide in order to improve; including, but not limited to: reasonable summer activities as well as expected activities to be conducted during the school year
 - iii) detail supports to be provided by the District; including, but not limited to: the individuals assigned to assist the Educator, goals related to performance standards and learning outcomes, articulate the measurable outcomes and timeline (i.e., mid-year summative evaluation) that will be accepted as evidence of improvement
 - iv) the plan will be reviewed and formally accepted with signatures from the Evaluator, Educator and Supervising Educator

- F) The Improvement Plan process shall include:
 - i) A meeting to discuss and develop the Improvement Plan.
 - ii) The Educator may request that a MURTA representative attend the meeting(s).
 - iii) If the Educator consents, MURTA will be informed that an Educator has been placed on an Improvement Plan.
- H) A copy of the signed Improvement Plan shall be provided to the Educator. The Educator's signature indicates that the Educator received the Improvement Plan in a timely fashion. The signature does not indicate agreement or disagreement with its contents.
- I) The Evaluator will make a decision regarding the Educator's status at the conclusion of the Improvement Plan.
 - i) One of three (3) decisions must be made no later than June 1st, at the conclusion of the Improvement Plan:
 - (a) If the Educator's performance has improved to the level of proficiency, the Educator will be placed on a One-Year Self-Directed Growth Plan.
 - (b) If the Educator is making substantial progress toward proficiency, the Educator will be placed on a One Year Directed Growth Plan.
 - (c) If the Educator is not making substantial progress toward proficiency, or if the Educator's practice remains at the level of unsatisfactory, the Evaluator shall recommend to the superintendent that the Educator be dismissed.

Article 20) Timelines

A) Educators on one-year Educator Plans

Date	Action
September 1	Superintendent and building principals enumerate district and school goals to all professional staff to include any updates to the evaluation process
September 5	Evaluator meets with first-year educators to assist in self-assessment and goal setting process
September 30	Educator submits self-assessment and a draft of proposed goals
October 15	Evaluator meets with Educators in teams or individually to review self- assessment, finalize goals and establish Educator Plans (Educator Plan may be established at Summative Evaluation Report meeting in prior school year)

November 1	Evaluator completes Educator Plans
November 15	Evaluator should complete first observation of each Educator

January 15	Educators on a one-year Plan submits evidence on parent outreach, professional growth, progress on goals (and other standards, if desired)
February 1	Evaluator holds Formative Assessment Meetings with Educators on one-Year Educator Plans if requested by either Evaluator or Educator
February 15	Evaluator should complete mid-cycle Formative Assessment Reports for Educators on one-year Educator Plans
May 1	Educators on a one-year Plan submit evidence on parent outreach, professional growth, progress on goals (and other standards, if desired)
May 15	Educators on a two-year Plan submit evidence on parent outreach, professional growth, progress on goals (and other standards, if desired) *or four (4) weeks prior to Summative Evaluation Report date established by evaluator
May 15	Evaluator completes Summative Evaluation Report for Educators on a one-year Plan
June 15	Evaluator completes Summative Evaluation Report for Educators on a two-year Plan and Formative Evaluation Reports for Educators in the mid- cycle of a two-year Plan
June 1	Evaluator meets with Educators whose overall Summative Evaluation ratings are Needs Improvement or Unsatisfactory
June 10	Evaluator meets with Educators whose ratings are proficient or exemplary at request of Evaluator or Educator
June 15	Educator signs Summative Evaluation Report and adds response, if any within five (5) school days of receipt
July 1	Potential Supervisory Educator positions for following SY are posted

B) Educators with PTS on Two Year Plans

Date	Action
Any time during the 2-Year evaluation	Evaluator completes at least one (1) unannounced observation(s) per year of the cycle
June 1 of Year 1	Evaluator completes Formative Evaluation Report
June 1 of Year 1	Evaluator conducts Formative Evaluation Meeting, if any
May 15 of Year 2	Evaluator completes Summative Evaluation Report
June 10 of Year 2	Evaluator conducts Summative Evaluation Meeting, if any
June 15 of Year 2	Evaluator and Educator sign Summative Evaluation Report

Appendix H: Unit B

Under the current Agreement (2014-2017), Unit B includes the Dean of Student and the director of Guidance positions. Unit B will retain all the rights of Unit A according to the terms of this Agreement.

The Dean of Students base salary will be the maximum step of the appropriate degree salary of Appendix A (Teachers Salary). The Dean of Students' school year will be a 189-day schedule. The Dean of Students stipend shall be split between the members holding the positions at Clough & Memorial. \$3,750 per person.

Dean of Students Stipend

2017-2018 2018-2019 2019-2020

\$7,650 \$7,650 \$7,650

Director of Guidance

The Director of Guidance shall be entitled to twenty (20) vacation days.

The Director of Guidance will be part of Unit B for the duration of this Agreement. Salary: A minimum of \$70,000.

RETELL (Rethinking Teaching English Language Learners) Initiative

- 1. For the purposes of the RETELL initiative, an "available employee" shall be defined as an employee of the Committee who can attend a DESE SEI Endorsement Class or DESE SEI Endorsement Bridge Class as offered per schedule on the DESE website. Also, for the purposes of the RETELL Initiative, an "eligible employee" shall be defined as an educator of the Committee who currently has or will have one (1) or more ELL students in their classroom(s) the following school year, or a supervisor of an educator who has or will have one (1) or more ELL students in their classroom(s).
- 2. During the District's Cohort years, the School Committee shall work collaboratively with the Association and shall inform Association leaders which employees are eligible and available based upon scheduling. An employee may volunteer to take the SEI Endorsement Class or Bridge courses in anticipation of taking ELL students in their classroom: however. scheduling of the ELL students is the Principal's decision. An employee with existing SEI Endorsement may volunteer to have one or more ELL students in their classroom; however, the final decision for scheduling will be determined by the Principal. No later than one week before the Committee transmits any such names to DESE, the Committee shall notify such employees of this designation so that the employee may correct this determination if needed. In the event that the employee is unable to participate in the SEI Endorsement Class or Bridge course due to a Hardship Exception, the employee will first discuss the hardship with the Principal and Building Representative and seek to resolve the issue at the building level.
- 3. All employees obtaining SEI Endorsement, by successful completion of the 45-hour course, shall receive three (3) credit hours to be applied to their salary in accordance with Appendix A. Those employees successfully completing the 24-hour Long Bridge course shall receive two (2) credit hours to be applied to their salary in accordance with Appendix A. Those employees successfully completing the 15-hour Short Bridge course shall receive one (1) credit hour to be applied to their salary in accordance with Appendix A. Employees who obtain an SEI Endorsement without any additional coursework are not eligible for any additional credit hours by obtaining the SEI Endorsement.
- 4. In the event that DESE does not provide funding for the SEI Endorsement Class or Bridge Course(s) beyond the 2015-2016 school year, the School Committee shall provide the resources so all eligible employees may earn the endorsement through the coursework.
- 5. All educators without an SEI Endorsement shall be notified if there are to be registered ELL students in their classroom(s) as soon as the information is available, but in no case later than the start of school. All supervisors of educators without an SEI Endorsement shall be notified if there are to be registered ELL students in the classroom(s) of educators they supervise for the following school year as soon as the information is available, but in no

case later than the start of school.

6. With the consent of the evaluator, employees may use the process of obtaining the SEI Endorsement as their Professional Practice Goal and progress of ELLs as their Student Learning Goal for the Evaluation process.